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Supermoon Over Walton Lighthouse 
 
The Walton Lighthouse at the east end of Seabright State Beach marks the entrance to Santa Cruz Harbor.  
In November 2016, the largest supermoon since 1948 appeared in the evening sky above the lighthouse.  
 
Photo by Neil Simmons, Santa Cruz, California 
Neil Simmons is a photographer with a flair for life that shows up in his work. Raised in Santa Cruz County, 
Simmons lives close to many of his favorite photogenic spots, but he also makes a point of traveling to 
study other parts of California and the West, enjoying the challenge of getting the shots he wants while on 
the road. 
http://www.neilsimmonsphotography.com/ 
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December 16, 2016 
 
The Honorable Board of Supervisors                   
County of Santa Cruz 
701 Ocean Street 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 
 
Members of the Board and Fellow Citizens: 
 
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the County of Santa Cruz (the County) for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 is hereby submitted in accordance with the statutes of the State of 
California. The CAFR represents the culmination of all budgeting and accounting activities during the 
year and covers all funds of the County, its component units and its financial transactions. 
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report which is based upon a comprehensive internal control framework established 
for this purpose. To the best of our knowledge, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects 
and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of 
the various funds and account groups of the County. The independent auditors, Brown Armstrong 
Accountancy Corporation, who have rendered an unmodified opinion thereon, have audited these 
statements. Their report is provided herein. 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) requires that management provide a 
narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form 
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to 
complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The County’s MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 
 
The County is required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of the 
Single Audit Act of 1984 as amended and U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-
133 designated to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. These reports are available in the 
County’s separately issued Single Audit Report. 
 
 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure 
designed to ensure that the assets of the County are protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure 
that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Because the cost of internal 
controls should not exceed the anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide a reasonable, rather than 
an absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements.  

   COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
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PROFILE OF THE COUNTY 
 
The County of Santa Cruz was established by an act of the State Legislature in 1850 as one of the original 
27 counties of the State of California. The County is a general law county and is governed by a five-
member Board of Supervisors who are elected by district to serve alternating four-year terms. The Board 
of Supervisors appoints a County Administrative Officer (Chief Executive) to carry out its policies as 
set forth by County Ordinance. The Assessor-Recorder, Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector, 
County Clerk, District Attorney and Sheriff-Coroner are elected officials and all other department heads 
are appointed officials. 
 
The County’s principal functions include seven major areas: general government, public protection, 
public ways and facilities, health and sanitation, public assistance, education, and recreation and cultural 
services. In the public assistance and health areas, the state and federal governments mandate certain 
minimum levels of service. These functions are required by County ordinance or by state or federal law. 
 
Santa Cruz is located on the Central Coast of California, and is bordered by San Mateo County to the 
North, Santa Clara County to the East, San Benito and Monterey Counties to the South and the Monterey 
Bay National Marine Sanctuary to the West. The County of Santa Cruz is the second smallest county in 
California in terms of land mass and the 23rd of 58 counties in terms of population. The County’s 
population is 275,902. Approximately half of the County residents live in one of the County’s four cities; 
Capitola, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, or Watsonville, with the other half living in the unincorporated 
County area. 
 
In accordance with the County Budget Act in the California Government Code, the County must adopt 
a budget on or before October 2 for each fiscal year. The County maintains budgetary controls, whose 
objective is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget. 
The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the 
appropriated amount) is at the character level of salaries and benefits, services and supplies for each 
budget unit within each budgeted fund. Other charges, land, plant and improvements, and equipment 
are controlled by line item within each budget unit.  
 
The encumbrance system is employed by the County to record amounts committed for purchase orders 
or contracts. If appropriations are not sufficient, the Board of Supervisors must approve amendments or 
transfers of appropriations between funds or departments.   
 
 
Factors Effecting Financial Conditions 
 
The Santa Cruz local economy has continued to recover after the global recession in the real estate and 
construction industry and the financial market meltdown. Beginning in 2007, the subprime mortgage 
lending crisis significantly reduced home sales across the nation and in Santa Cruz County.  
  
Property-related tax revenues in Santa Cruz County have experienced steady growth. Property taxes are 
determined based upon assessed values. The assessed values of secured property in Santa Cruz County 
increased by 5.15% in 2015-2016 and has had a positive increase for the last four years with an annual 
average growth over the last five years of 5.16%. These revenues comprise approximately 80% of the 
County’s total tax revenues. 
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An important indicator of the local economy is retail sales. Sales tax receipts in the unincorporated 
County comprise approximately 8% of the County’s total tax revenues. Sales tax receipts decreased by 
1.73% in fiscal year 2015-2016, however the total increase over the last five years reflects a 4.29% 
annual average growth.  The County voters passed a Cannabis Business Tax effective November 2014. 
The tax, currently set at 7%, resulted in the collection of $2.5 million in taxes in 2015-2016. 
 
Tourism is important to the local economy. Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) collections, which 
comprise approximately 5.7% of the County’s total tax revenues, have increased an average of 10.77% 
over the past five years, with an increase in fiscal year 2015-16 of 9.28%. On July 1, 2013 the voters 
passed a TOT rate increase on lodging facilities in the unincorporated area from 9.5% to 11%.   
 
The County’s population is estimated to be 274,146 as of July 1, 2015, increasing by 11,784 residents 
or 4.5 % since the April 2010 Census. The County’s unemployment rate at June 30, 2016 was 7.5%, 
1.25% lower than it was one year ago at 8.7%, and much lower than the high of 13.3% in 2011-12.  
 
The County’s General Fund revenues increased by $17.7 million from $404.3 million in fiscal year 
2014-2015 to $422.0 million in fiscal year 2015-2016, an increase of approximately 4.4%. There were 
revenue increases in taxes, licenses and permits sold, as well as charges for services which increased 
primarily due to outpatient clinic fees and other patient revenues. Intergovernmental revenue increased 
by $1.9 million primarily due to Assembly Bill 109, the Public Safety Realignment Act. 
 
The County General Fund increased its expenditures by $22.1 million from $390.2 million in fiscal year 
2014-2015 to $412.3 million in fiscal year 2015-2016, approximately 6.0%. The increases were 
primarily in Public Protection and Public Assistance. General government activities have been held to 
basic levels for many years, and increased expenditures in the health and human services program have 
relied on considerable growth in federal and state grants. 
 
Long Term Financial Planning 
 
The County is committed to building and maintaining a strategic reserve. The County has maintained 
its General Fund reserves within the minimum level.  
 

• Total General Fund balance was $51.7 million at June 30, 2016, an increase of $1.5 million from 
$50.2 million from June 30, 2015.  
 

• General Fund committed and assigned designations totaled $42.9 million at June 30, 2016, an 
increase of $6.4 million from $36.5 million at June 30, 2015, not including $8.2 million assigned 
to fund next year’s budget. 

 
In November 2014, the County Board of Supervisors adopted a modified Fund Balance Policy which 
revised the Policy originally adopted in 2011 by increasing the minimum fund balance in the General 
Fund from 7% to 10% over the following seven years. The original 2011 Fund Balance Reserve Policy 
established a minimum balance in the committed and assigned categories for the County General Fund 
at 7% of the upcoming budget year’s estimated revenues. This policy has helped the County maintain a 
stronger fiscal position to weather economic trends while still preserving flexibility.  
 
The committed and assigned fund balance designations of the County’s General Fund at June 30, 2016, 
of $41.4 million (excluding liabilities and the amount assigned to fund the fiscal year 2016-2017 budget) 
were at 8.0% of fiscal year 2016-2017 budgeted revenues. 
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The County’s fiscal year 2016-2017 adopted budget reflects some economic improvements. However, 
the County has yet to recover from the ongoing structural deficit. The County continues to rely on fund 
balance to address the deficit. In addition to reducing the ongoing structural budget deficit, the fiscal 
year 2016-2017 adopted budget focuses on maintaining operations, budgeting for increases in the cost 
of doing business including salaries and benefits, responding to numerous statutory changes including 
the Affordable Care Act and Public Safety Realignment, improving reserves, restoring public safety 
services, expanding economic development in the County, and beginning to address the many deferred 
maintenance projects. While the County receives only 13% of the property tax dollar, approximately 
79% of the County’s general purpose revenues are related to real estate, either through property tax 
revenues or vehicle license fee revenues which change lock-step with property tax revenues. Although 
the local economy is in recovery, the County continues to employ strict cost control measures to balance 
its budget. 
 
At the State level, California voters approved Proposition 30 in November 2012 to temporarily increase 
the statewide sales tax rate and the income tax rates on wealthier individuals. This Proposition was re-
authorized through Measure 55 “Tax Extension for Education and Healthcare” approved by voters in 
November 2016. Voters also approved Proposition 39 to close a loophole for out-of-state businesses, 
projected to raise about $1 billion a year. These tax measures, coupled with the State’s economic 
recovery and past budget cuts, provided California a positive economic outlook for fiscal year 2015-
2016.  
 
The independent California Legislative Analyst’s Office (LAO) projected a $1.1 billion operating 
surplus (revenues less expenditures) in fiscal year 2015-2016, resulting in a $7.9 billion reserve at June 
30, 2016. For the following fiscal year 2016-2017, the LAO is projecting $2.1 billion surplus, resulting 
in an $11.5 billion reserve at June 30, 2017. The LAO estimates that revenues and transfers increase 
$6.9 billion, of 5.9%, in 2016-2017 when the State’s projected operating surpluses reach $11.5 billion.  
 
The state’s temporary personal income tax and sales tax rate increases under Proposition 30 expire at 
the end of 2018, resulting in a more gradual ramping down of these revenues after that year. This helps 
prevent a “cliff effect” in the LAO’s forecast, as projected operating surpluses continue to grow in 2017-
2018 through 2019-2020. 
 
Employees’ Retirement Plan 
 
The California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) pension fund, in which Santa Cruz 
County employees participate, has made significant and important changes in costs and benefits. In 
August 2012, the State legislature adopted changes including an increased retirement age and a lowered 
benefit formula for new employees, a cap on the annual pension payout, and a requirement for workers 
to pay half of their costs. CalPERS realized a gain of just 2.4% on its investments for the year ended 
June 30, 2015, following gains of 18.40%, 12.5%, 1.0%, 20.7% and 11.1% in the five prior years.  
 
CalPERS stated long-term 20-year investment return remains at 7.75%. In 2013 CalPERS approved a 
revised rate smoothing policy to reduce the rate volatility caused in prior years. It is designed to amortize 
investment gains and losses from earlier fiscal years over a fixed 30-year period with the increases and 
decreases in the rate spread over a five year period.  
 
County employees also participate in the CalPERS health insurance program, whose average premiums 
increased by 7.9% in 2015, and will increase by 6.6% for 2016. 
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MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
During the last fiscal year, under the leadership of the Board of Supervisors, several key programs and projects 
were successfully undertaken by the County:  
 

• The offices of the Auditor-Controller and the Treasurer-Tax Collector were consolidated in January 
2015. The Office led a multi-year effort to implement a comprehensive new financial and 
procurement system. The core modules went live in May 2015 with the remaining modules 
following. The modules emphasize the use of modern technology and paperless workflows. The 
office held a successful sale of tax delinquent properties in June 2016. 

 
• The County Administrative Office efforts included: the establishment of a new JPA for library 

services with funding for facilities from Measure S and the hiring of a new library director, the 
implementation of numerous energy efficiency projects, the increase of general fund reserves to 
9%, and the restoration of a stand-alone Parks Department.  Major construction projects included 
the Juvenile Hall Gym and kitchen project, and the $25M Sheriff’s Re-Entry Facility 
project.  The County Administrative Office also implemented a 4th Party Public Defender 
System, Cannabis licensing program activities, Economic Development Strategies, and 
coordinated the CEMEX reuse plan and Homeless programs. The office assumed a lead role in 
the negotiations for the Monterey Bay Community Power Project and successfully negotiated a 
4 year contract with SEIU.  

 
• The County Clerk/Elections Office conducted the June 7, 2016 Presidential Primary Election, two 

special school district elections on November 17, 2015, and on May 3, 2016 and assisted in the May 
4, 2016, Assessment Ballot Procedure for the Lompico County Water Assessment District.   

 
• The Assessor’s Office, along with the Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector, continued to 

incorporate and refine the new property tax system to create efficiencies in these departments.  
 
• The County Recorder’s Office expanded the use of e-Recording with the approval of over 310 

document submitters which allows for quicker receipt of recordable documents. 
 

• Child Support Services provided new services including MoneyGram located in CVS stores and 
PayNearMe located in 7-Eleven stores. In fiscal year 2015-2016 the combined Santa Cruz-San 
Benito department collected over $18 million in child support payments. The Santa Cruz-San 
Benito region continued to excel on the key federal performance measures. 

 
• The Office of County Counsel contributed significantly to the Board’s medical marijuana 

regulation and enforcement efforts. This Office also won several motions for summary judgment 
in tort cases that saved the County from further litigating these high value cases. 
 

• The District Attorney’s Office (DAO) faced a significant number of homicides and other 
violent felonies which occurred and went to trial. The DAO is also a leading member of the 
Santa Cruz County Anti-Crime Team (SCCACT) and an integral member of the Community 
Corrections Partnership which was established to develop and implement plans for Assembly 
Bill 109, the Public Safety Realignment Act, which allows specified lower-level inmates and 
parolees to serve their sentence in county jails instead of state prisons. The District Attorney’s 
Office also continues to lead and staff the Bob Lee Community Partnership for Accountability, 
Connection and Treatment (PACT).   
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• General Services continues its efforts in furthering the goals of the Climate Action Strategy by 
participating in the Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) Monterey Bay regional feasibility 
effort. The Facilities Division’s work included implementing additional energy efficiency 
projects using Pacific Gas & Electric’s Sustainable Solutions Turnkey Program to install 
energy efficient boilers at four locations. In collaboration with the Parks Department, the 
General Services Department completed the Seacliff Village Park Project, the Willowbrook 
Playground Installation Project, the Quail Hollow Brook Restoration Project, as well as 
building improvements at County facilities. 

 
• The Department of Parks, Open Space, and Cultural Services continued to work in collaboration 

with other agencies, departments and non-profit organizations to provide high quality Recreation 
and Arts throughout the community. The Department managed major capital improvement projects 
including the Seacliff Village Park Phase 1 and Quail Hollow Restoration projects which were 
completed in fiscal year 2015-2016.  
 

• The Information Services Department was recognized by the Center for Digital Government (CDG) 
and the National Association of Counties (NACo) as a 2016 Digital Counties Survey winner. 
Information Services designed and rolled out software applications that allowed citizens to 
electronically do business with the county. Cannabis Licensing, Transient Occupancy and Cannabis 
tax collection went online. Electronic plan submission, Planning and Environmental Health online 
payment systems went live.  
 

• There were many new initiatives by the Planning Department in the past year, as well as completion 
of prior initiatives. Completed activities included a Housing Element Update adopted by the Board 
of Supervisors, an update of the Local Hazard Mitigation Plan, completion of a Community Choice 
Energy Feasibility Study, and successful submittal and award of $2 Million in grants for both First 
Time Homebuyer and Tenant Based Rental Assistance affordable housing activities. Several key 
new development projects were approved, including a 20-unit housing project and a mixed-use 
project, both located in Live Oak. New initiatives included launching an electronic building plan 
check system, and recruitment of new staff to fill vacant and newly funded positions that are 
necessary to respond to increasing levels of development activity.  

 
• The Santa Cruz County Probation Department is responsible for services required by the Adult 

and Juvenile Courts. These services include pretrial assessments, alternatives to incarceration, 
probation community supervision, post-trial alternative custody and juvenile detention. The 
Department continues to focus on research-based probation strategies to ensure public safety 
through the reduction of recidivism and victimization, and maximizing completion of 
supervision terms.  This is accomplished through risk-based supervision; addressing issues that 
drive criminal behavior; consideration for custody alternatives; and providing services and 
interventions which are proven to reduce reoffending by matching the programs with individual 
needs. The Juvenile Probation Division continues to be a model site for the Annie E. Casey 
Foundation’s Juvenile Detention Alternatives Initiative (JDA). 

 
The Board of Supervisors is required to provide and maintain a suitable place for the detention 
of juveniles. The Juvenile Hall provides temporary, secure custody of juveniles who are referred 
by law enforcement agencies.  

 
• The Public Works Department is responsible for the administration, engineering, maintenance and 

construction of the County’s roads, bridges, bikeways, sanitation, drainage, and flood control 
facilities, oversight and engineering for solid waste disposal services, recycling programs and 
construction management services. The Department administers the real property, surveyor, and 
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development review programs, as well as manages various Board-governed special districts and 
County road and sanitation service areas and the Live Oak Parking Program. 

 
• During the past year, the Sheriff’s Office improved their staffing levels and implemented 21st 

Century Policing. Using the President’s Task Force on 21st Century Policing implementation guide, 
the Sheriff’s Office is well on its way to implementing all 79 recommendations organized around 
the six Task Force pillars.   

 
The County’s new grant-funded Recovery Center has been very successful as it saves staff 
time working with adult public inebriates who would otherwise be housed in the county jail. 
This enables patrol officers to get back on the streets faster to deal with more serious issues. 
During the first 12 months of operation, 551 inebriants were brought into the Center. 

 
The Rountree Rehabilitation and Re-Entry Facility Project has entered the design phase of this 
renovation project. The present facility will be renovated and expanded with more than $25 
million from the Board of State and Community Corrections under SB1022.  
 

• Santa Cruz County remained under quarantine for Light Brown Apple Moth and Sudden Oak Death. 
The office of the Agricultural Commissioner worked to prevent the spread of those pests, the 
introduction of new pests, and to protect the ability of the industry to export commodities.  
 

• The Health Services Agency (HSA) service areas include: Public Health and Environmental Health, 
Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHC), Mental Health, Substance Abuse treatment and 
indigent health care.  

 
HSA opened a clinic in Watsonville that provides integrated care including dental services. Over 
248,283 health visits were provided to approximately 93,000 Santa Cruz residents. Environmental 
Health provided 10,300 inspections as well as provided oversight of site monitoring and clean- up 
activities at 94 contaminated properties. HSA integrated a Food Facility Inspection Results webpage 
into the County’s Citizen Connect application to allow viewing mobile devices and implemented a 
County wide Electronic Health Record (EHR) for both mental health and substance use disorder 
services. 
 

• The Human Services Department is heavily leveraged by federal and state funding and provides 
a wide range of safety net services to protect the county’s most vulnerable populations and 
provide assistance to those struggling financially.  Approximately 91,000 people within the 
county struggle with poverty and the lack of health insurance and receive benefits from one or 
more public assistance programs, including food assistance (CalFresh), medical insurance 
(Medi-Cal) and cash aid (CalWorks and General Assistance). A number of new strategies to 
increase CalFRESH participation have been implemented. 

 
A significant change to child welfare services is scheduled to begin implementation in January 
2017. A change in congregate care will be required with a strong emphasis on placing children 
and youth in family-based care with individualized mental health plans as appropriate. The 
department has been meeting with stakeholder groups to begin planning and has received new 
funding allocations to both prepare and create new resources. 

 
• The Personnel department has focused their efforts towards: 1) meeting the requirements of the 

Affordable Care Act through specialized recruitments for both the Health and Human Services 
Agencies, 2) achieving long term collective bargaining agreements with County labor unions, and 
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3) re-inventing and modernizing the internal employee training programs and recruitment efforts to 
focus upon career development, transitional leadership and succession planning. 

 
 
OTHER INFORMATION 
 
State statutes require an annual audit by independent Certified Public Accountants. The firm of Brown 
Armstrong was selected to audit the financial statements of the County’s various funds and account 
groups, and has issued an unqualified (“Clean”) opinion thereon. In addition to meeting the requirements 
of State law, the audit was also designed to comply with the federal Single Audit Act of 1984, and 
related OMB Circular A-133. The auditors’ report on the financial statements is included in the financial 
section of this report. The auditors’ reports related specifically to the single audit are included in a 
separate Single Audit Report. 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the County of Santa Cruz for its 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. The Certificate of 
Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest standards for 
preparation of state and local government financial reports. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement program 
requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
AUDITOR-CONTROLLER ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
I wish to express my appreciation to my Accounting Division and Audit Division, the County 
departments that participated in the audit process, and Brown Armstrong for their contributions, 
assistance, and guidance in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Edith Driscoll 
Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
To the Honorable Board of Supervisors 
  of the County of Santa Cruz 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Santa Cruz, California (County), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amount and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the County’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
County’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the County as of June 30, 2016, and the respective changes in financial 
position, and where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Emphasis of Matter 
 
As disclosed in the Note 1 to the financial statements, the County adopted Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets that are not within the Scope of GASB Statement No. 68, and 
Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements No. 67 and No. 68, GASB Statement No. 76, Hierarchy of 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments, and GASB Statement No. 79, Certain 
External Investment Pools and Pool Participants, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to the matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis pages 7-19, the respective Budgetary Comparison for the General Fund and the Housing Fund on 
pages 112-122, and the County’s Retirement Plans’ Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related 
Ratios and the Schedule of Contributions on pages 123-124 and Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) schedules of 
funding progress on page 125 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the County’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual non-major fund financial 
statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.   
 
The combining and individual non-major fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual non-major fund 
financial statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole.   
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and schedules and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 16, 2016, on 
our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report 
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
County’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG 
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
  
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 16, 2016 
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
MANAGEMENT”S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JUNE 30, 2016 

This section of the County of Santa Cruz (the “County”) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents 
a discussion and analysis of the County’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016. 
Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the County’s basic 
financial statements following this section. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The assets plus deferred outflows of resources of the County exceeded liabilities plus deferred
inflows of resources at the close of the 2015-2016 fiscal year by  $185,631,556  (net position). Of
this amount, a negative amount of  $376,102,990  is unrestricted,  $64,269,660  is restricted for
specific purpose (restricted net position), and  $497,464,886  is the net investment in capital assets.

• The County’s total net position increased by  $11,996,745 . This increase was primarily due to the
County’s General Revenues of $137.2 million exceeding the net operating expense of $126.1
million, plus a net prior period adjustment of negative $125,210.

• As of June 30, 2016, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$176,505,441 , an increase of  $9,296,077  in comparison with the prior year.  Revenues increased
by approximately $18 million, $9 million from taxes, $2 million from Federal and State Aid and $6.7
million from charges for services. Expenditures increased by 4.44% or  $20,163,913 , half of which
resulted from additional costs in support of the Affordable Care Act for Public Assistance and the
other half resulted from additional staffing in the Sheriff’s Division as well as increases in
professional and computer charges for public protection.  Proceeds from the issuance of bonds
provided $9.9 million of revenue under other financing sources.

• At the end of the fiscal year, the general fund reported an ending fund balance of  $51,736,019 , of
which  $751,039  was nonspendable,  $17,251,089  was committed,  $33,767,098  was assigned,
and  $(33,207) was unassigned, as shown on page 33.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial 
statements. The County’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) Government-
wide financial statements, (2) Fund financial statements, and (3) Notes to the basic financial statements. 
Required Supplementary Information is included in addition to the basic financial statements. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
County’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net position presents information on all County assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference in assets plus deferred outflows of resources 
and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases 
in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether or not the financial position of the County is 
improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net position changed during 
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses 
are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such 
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as revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining to earned but unused vacation and 
sick leave. 

Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). The governmental activities of the County include general government, public protection, public 
ways and facilities, health and sanitation, public assistance, education, and recreation and culture. The 
business-type activities of the County include the County Disposal Sites CSA 9C, and the following Board 
of Supervisor Governed Districts: Boulder Creek CSA 7, Rolling Woods CSA 10, Septic Tank Maintenance 
CSA 12, Freedom County Sanitation District, Davenport Sanitation District, Place de Mer CSA 2, Sand 
Dollar Beach CSA 5, Trestle Beach CSA 20, Summit West CSA 54, and Graham Hill CSA 57 operations. 

Component units are included in our basic financial statements and consist of legally separate entities for 
which the County is financially accountable and that have substantially the same board as the County or 
provide services entirely to the County. The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District is reported as a discretely 
presented component unit of the County. The District is managed by the County Department of Public 
Works and provides sanitation services to a portion of the unincorporated areas of the County.  For more 
detail, please refer to the Sanitation District’s separately issued financial statements. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 25-26 of this report. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The fund financial statements are designed to report information about groupings of related funds which 
are used to account for resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The 
County, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the County can be divided into three 
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the County’s basic services are reported in 
the governmental funds. The governmental funds financial statements focus on (1) how cash and other 
financial assets can readily be converted to available resources and (2) the balances left at year-end that 
are available for spending. Such information may be useful in determining what financial resources are 
available in the near future to finance the County’s programs. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers 
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the 
governmental funds balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between the governmental funds and 
governmental activities. 

The County maintains several individual governmental funds organized according to their type (general, 
special revenue, and capital projects). Information is presented separately in the governmental funds 
balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General 
Fund, Housing Fund, and the Capital Projects Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from 
the remaining governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund 
data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements 
elsewhere in this report. 

The governmental funds financial statements can be found on pages 33-36 of this report. 

Proprietary funds are used to account for services for which the County charges customers—either 
outside customers or internal units or departments of the County. Proprietary funds provide the same type 
of information as shown in the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The County 
maintains the following two types of proprietary funds: 
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• Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in
the government-wide financial statements. The County enterprise funds used to account for the
operations of the County include the County Disposal Sites CSA 9C, and the following Board of
Supervisor Governed Districts: Boulder Creek CSA 7, Rolling Woods CSA 10, Septic Tank
Maintenance CSA 12, Freedom County Sanitation District, Davenport Sanitation District, Place de
Mer CSA 2, Sand Dollar Beach CSA 5, Trestle Beach CSA 20, Summit West CSA 54, and Graham
Hill CSA 57 operations.

• Internal Service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally
among the County’s various functions. The County uses internal service funds to account for its
central duplicating, information services, public works, service center, and insurance (risk
management, dental and health, liability and property, workers’ compensation, employee benefit
staffing, and state unemployment insurance) functions. Because these services predominantly
benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. The internal service funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements.
Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements
elsewhere in this report.

The proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 39-43 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the County. 
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs. The fiduciary funds the County 
maintains are agency, investment trust funds and private purpose trust funds. Since these funds are 
custodial in nature, they do not involve the measurement of results of operations.  

The fiduciary funds financial statements can be found on pages 47-49 of this report. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to 
the basic financial statements can be found on pages 55-108 of this report. 

Required Supplementary Information (other than MD&A) 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report presents certain required 
supplementary information concerning the County’s general fund budgetary comparison schedule and 
progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees and other post-employment 
obligations to retirees. 

The County adopts an annual budget, which is a compilation of operating budgets from individual functional 
units within the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Capital Projects Funds and Proprietary Funds. 
Budgets are adopted for all funds except for Fiduciary Funds and certain special revenue funds, namely 
the Financing Authorities and the Geological Hazard Abatement Districts.  A budgetary comparison 
schedule has been provided for the General Fund and Housing Fund to demonstrate compliance with these 
budgets.  These can be found on pages 112-152 of this report. 

Combining Statements and Schedules 

The combining and individual fund statements and schedules referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor 
governmental funds, enterprise and internal service funds, and fiduciary funds are presented immediately 
following the required supplementary information. 
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Analysis of Net Position  
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. 
For the County, assets plus deferred outflows of resources exceed liabilities plus deferred inflows of 
resources by  $185,631,556  at the close of the 2015-2016 fiscal year. 
 
The portion of the County’s net investment in capital assets,  $497,464,886  (268%), reflects its investment 
in capital assets (e.g., land, building and structures, and equipment) less accumulated depreciation in the 
amount of  $552,493,238 , less the related debt of $55,028,352 used to acquire those assets that is still 
outstanding. The County uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although the County’s investment in its capital assets is 
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the County’s net position,  $64,269,660  (35%), represents resources that are 
subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  Of the total, 28% is restricted for capital asset 
acquisition, 50% is dedicated to public roads and facilities, 13% is restricted for public safety and the rest 
is restricted for debt service, health and various County imposed purposes.    
 
The County’s unrestricted net position of  $(376,102,990) increased by  $19,609,364.00  from the prior 
year.  This amount consists of all net position that does not meet the definition of restricted net position or 
net investment in capital assets.  The majority of negative unrestricted net position is primarily the result of 
the County’s unfunded pension and OPEB obligations, due to the implementation of GASB Statement Nos. 
68 and 71, offset by positive unrestricted net position predominantly in the County’s General Fund. 
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Analysis of Change in Net Position 
 
During the current fiscal year, the County’s net position increased by  $11,996,745 .  These increased are 
explained in the governmental and business-type activity discussion below. 
 

• Governmental activities increased the County’s net position by  $17,568,241 , accounting for 
146% of the total increase in net position of the County.  The County recorded a prior period 
adjustment in the amount of $5,877,304, of which $647,635 was an adjustment to the capital asset 
beginning balances, negative $772,845 was an adjustment to reclassify a revenue payment that 
was for payment of loan principle, and $6,002,514 was for the realignment of long term liabilities 
related to the County Disposal Site CSA 9C. 

 
The change in net position before the prior period adjustment for governmental activities was 
$11,690,937.   Revenues increased by $17.2 million from the prior year.  There was an increase to 
Charges for Services in the amount of $6.4 million primarily due to increases in medical and clinic 
charges and development fees.  There was also an increase of $9 million in Property Taxes and 
other taxes compared to the prior year. 

 
• Expenses overall increased by  23,312,868 . Public Protection increased by $9.6 million, with $4 

million coming from the Sheriff’s department for staffing,  $1 million from the District Attorney’s 
department for payroll increases, $1 million from Emergency Services for Capital Assets, and 
various other increases coming from the Probation department and the Agricultural Commissioner.  



 

12 

Health Services increased by $5 million due to increased staffing and physician fees, and increases 
in cost plan allocations.  Public Assistance increased by $9.9 million over the prior year.  There 
were staffing increases primarily associated with the Affordable Care Act in the amount of $5.3 
million.  The remaining increases were in data processing and software purchases, as well as 
interdepartmental charges and support services. 
 

• Business-type activities decreased by  $(5,571,496) over the prior year.  Expenses decreased 
by  (78,624), while revenues increased  652,449 .  The difference in net position was primarily due 
to a Transfer In to the County Disposal Site CSA 9C fund from the Financing Authorities in the 
amount of $5,972,514 in the prior year.  This was reversed in the current year through a prior period 
adjustment. 

  

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financial 
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the County’s financing 
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net 
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. Types of governmental funds reported by the 
County include the general fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, and capital project funds. 
 
At June 30, 2016, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of  
$176,505,441 , an increase in comparison with the prior year.  The components of total fund balance are 
as follows (see Note 19 – Fund Balances). 
 

• Nonspendable fund balance,   $751,039 , are amounts that are not spendable in form, or are legally 
or contractually required to be maintained intact, and are made up of (1) inventory, prepaids, and 
imprest cash of $475,042, and (2) advances and loans of $275,997 

 
• Restricted fund balance,  $124,769,422 , consists of amounts with constraints put on their use by 

externally imposed creditors, grantors, contributions, laws, regulations, or enabling legislation.  
Examples of restrictions on funds are those for (1) purpose of fund (i.e., flood control, library) of 
$39,834,677, (2) Loans of $61,506,840, (3) assets held for sale $1,643,891, (4) debt service of 
$4,088,084, and (5) amounts restricted for capital asset acquisition of $17,695,930. 

 
• Committed fund balance,  $17,251,089 , are amounts for specific purposes determined by the 

Board of Supervisors, which includes Natural Disasters of $1,251,089, Working Capital of 
$6,000,000 and Economic Uncertainty of $10,000,000. 

 
• Assigned fund balance of  $33,767,098  represents amounts that are intended for specific purposes 

and are established by the Board of Supervisors or an official or body delegated by the governing 
body.  Examples of assigned fund balances are (1) federally qualified health programs of 
$14,229,750, (2) structural deficit of $6,632,662, (3) projected budgetary deficit of $8,149,727, (4) 
liabilities of $1,500,000, (5) human services of $460,000 and (6) salary savings of $2,794,959. 

 
• Unassigned fund balance is currently  $(33,207) 

 
Revenues for governmental functions totaled  475,226,097  in fiscal year 2015-2016, which represents an 
increase of  $17,521,130 , or 3.8% from fiscal year 2014-2015. Expenditures for governmental functions 
totaling  $474,754,043  increased by  $20,163,913 , or 4.44%, from fiscal year 2014-2015. In the fiscal year 
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2015-2016, revenues for governemnetal functions exceeded expenditures by by  $472,054 .  Other 
financing sources, including interfund, exceeded other financing uses by  $10,633,492 . 
 
The general fund is the primary operating fund of the County. At June 30, 2016, the general fund’s total 
fund balance was  $51,736,019 , of which  $751,039  was nonspendable, and  $50,984,980  was spendable. 
The spendable fund balance consists of  $17,251,089  in committed fund balance,  $33,767,098  in assigned 
fund balance, and  $(33,207) in unassigned fund balance.  As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it 
may be useful to compare both total fund balance and spendable fund balance to total fund expenditures. 
Total fund balance is 12.5% of total General Fund expenditures while spendable fund balance is 12.4% of 
total General Fund expenditures.   
 
The Housing Fund is a major fund of the County.  At June 30, 2016, the Housing Fund’s total fund balance 
was $79,600,179. The spendable (restricted) fund balance amount was  79,600,179 , a increase of  
$60,925,061.00  from the prior year, due to reclassification of items erroneously classified as nonspendable 
in the prior year.  
 
The Capital Projects fund balance of  6,790,774  was spendable (restricted) at June 30, 2016, a decrease 
of  $2,104,232  from the prior year.  The decrease was due to a reduction in capital outlay expenses as 
many projects were completed in the prior year. 
 
The following table presents the amount of revenues from various sources as well as increases or 
decreases from the prior year for all governmental funds: 
 

 
 
Revenues increased by  $17.52  million over the prior year.  There was a $9 million increase in taxes, 
consisting of $6 million in property taxes, $0.6 million in transient occupancy taxes, $1.5 million in cannabis 
business taxes, and the rest in various other taxes. 
 
Charges for services increased by another $6.6 million.  The majority of the increase was primarily 
outpatient clinic fees and other patient revenues. 
  
The following table presents expenditures by function compared to prior year amounts for all governmental 
funds: 
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Overall expenditures increased by  $20.16  million.  Half of the increase was generated by the public 
assistance function.  Salaries increased by $5 million to support the requirements of the Affordable Care 
Act (ACA), and other community program appropriations increased by $3.6 million.  The rest of the public 
assistance increases were from computer and software costs and interdepartmental allocations.  
 
Public protection accounted for an $8.5 million increase over the prior year.  There was an increase of $6 
million due to payroll and staffing increases.  There was another $1.5 million increase in professional 
services and public defender costs over the prior year.  The rest was due to data processing fees, software 
costs and other services. 
 
Health and sanitation had an increase of $5.5 million over the prior year.  Staffing and salary increases 
accounted for $3 million of this increase, and the rest was from medical professional services and physician 
services. 
 
Public ways and facilities decreased by $4 million because road projects were reduced due to sizeable 
decreases in gas taxes. 
  
Other financing sources and uses are presented below, including changes from the prior year.  In 2015-16, 
lease revenue bonds were issued in the amount of $9,945,000.  There was also a refunding of the 2004 
certificates of participation. The amount of $13,097,459 was paid to the escrow agent for the 2004 bonds 
and bonds were issued in the amount of $13,770,000.  Refer to Note No. 10 for more information on long 
term debt.   
 
Transfers in and out are detailed in Note No. 5. 
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The current year excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over (under) expenditures 
and other financing uses is presented below: 
 

 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The County’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial 
statements, but in more detail. 
 
The business-type activities had total net position of  26,121,191  at June 30, 2016, of which  (2,734,933) 
was unrestricted. 
 
The following table shows the enterprise funds’ actual revenues, expenses and results of operations for the 
current fiscal year: 
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Total enterprise fund net position decreased by  $5,978,878 .  Operating revenues of  $15,102,827  
increased by  $603,958  over the prior fiscal year.  Operating expenses of  $15,548,922  increased by  
$280,139  over the prior year, mostly from overhead costs. 
 
There was a restatement of the beginning net position in the amount of $(6,002,514) as a result of the prior 
period adjustment for debt realignment as mentioned above. 
 
The Internal Service fund net position increased by  $4,576,703  over the prior fiscal year.  This was due to 
increases in revenue for internal billings from Information Services, Public Works and Self-Insurance funds. 
 
 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
After the adoption of the 2015-2016 fiscal year budget, the original General Fund budget was increased by 
$6,540,869 during the year, not including transfers out.  Approximately $1 million was from the Sheriff’s 
division for additional financial resources made available from year-end budget adjustments. An additional 
$2 million came from the State of California Housing and Development for use by the Planning department’s 
grant programs.  Another half million was reappropriated from fund balance for additional fixed assets for 
the County Fire department.  Public Assistance accounted for another $2.5 million increase in 
appropriations primarily from the California Department of Social Services to fund CalWorks and other 
assistance programs. 
 
The 2015-2016 total expenditures were  $22,123,108 , or 5.7%, greater than the prior fiscal year, not 
including transfers.  Nine million was due to increased spending in Public Protection for additional staffing 
for the Sheriff’s division and overall expenditures in the Sheriff’s Detention division, District Attorney salary 
increases, and increased salary expenditures in the Probation department.   Six million came from the 
Health Services Agency, which had a $3 million increase in Salaries expenditures and another $3 million 
in Other Charges.  Public Assistance expenditures were $7.8 million over the prior fiscal year, 6 million from 
salaries and benefits and the rest from categorical aids expenditures. 
 
General Fund actual revenues were $26,597,522 lower than the original budget.  The majority of this was 
due to a difference of $24 million from the original budget originating from Transfers In, plus $7 million less 
than budget for charges for services, offset by a $6 million increase in tax revenue over budget. 
 
 
For additional information, readers should refer to the letter of transmittal. 
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The County’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2016 totaled 
$552,493,234 (net of accumulated depreciation of $435,446,002). These capital assets include land, 
construction in progress, infrastructure, buildings and structures, and equipment. There was a 0.6% 
decrease in the County’s capital assets for the  2015-2016 fiscal year in the amount of $3,525,859.   
 
For government-wide financial statement presentation, all depreciable capital assets were depreciated from 
acquisition date to the end of the 2015-2016 fiscal year. 
 
Fund financial statements record capital asset purchases as expenditures. 
 
Capital assets for the governmental and business-type activities are presented below to illustrate changes 
from the prior year: 
 

 

Capital Assets decreased in Governmental Activities by $3.4 million.  Infrastructure increased by $8.7 
million over the prior year, mostly for roads and drainage.  Buildings and structures had an increase of 
approximately $4 million for the completion of various construction projects.  The increase to accumulated 
depreciation by $15 million accounted for the net decrease. 
 
Business-type capital assets decreased by $144,656.  A $6 million construction project for the County 
Disposal CSA 9C fund was completed and moved from construction in progress to buildings and structures. 
 
Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note No. 7 on pages 79-81 of this 
report. 
 

Long-term Debt 
 
The County’s long-term debt for governmental and business-type activities is presented below to illustrate 
changes from the prior year: 
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For the governmental activities, the County had total long-term debt outstanding of $74,970,513 as 
compared to $76,801,429 the prior year (excluding compensated absences and estimated claims), a 
decrease of $1,830,916.  Refunding certificates of participation in the amount of $13,770,000 were issued 
to retire the balance of the 2004 certificates of participation in the amount of $12,945,000 plus issuance 
costs. New lease revenue bonds were issued in the amount of $9,945,000 to finance a variety of capital 
improvements.  As stated in Note 10, the 2014 lease revenue bond was realigned to the County Disposal 
Site CSA 9C, a business-type activity, in the amount of $7,039,138, less retirements, to finance the addition 
of a module at the County’s Buena Vista sanitary landfill site.  Debt retirement, not including bonds retired 
through refinancing, amounted to $5.8 million.  
 
For the business-type activities, the County had total long-term debt outstanding of $7,090,759 as 
compared to $449,619 in the prior year (excluding post-closure liability), an increase of $6,641,140, due 
primarily from the above-mentioned realignment of the 2014 lease revenue bond.  Bond retirement 
amounted to $403,136 for the year. 
 
The County’s total debt for all primary government activities increased by $4,810,224 or 6% during the 
current fiscal year (excluding compensated absences, estimated claims, and post-closure liability). 
 
The County maintains a Standard & Poor’s ‘SP-1+’ and a Moody’s ‘MIG 1’ rating for short-term notes.  
Moody’s has assigned its long-term rating on the County’s general fund certificates of participation and 
lease revenue bonds of “A1” and its Issuer Rating of “Aa3.” This rating was last reviewed by Moody’s in 
October 2016.  Standard & Poor’s has assigned its long-term rating on the County’s general fund 
certificates of participation and lease revenue bonds of “AA”.  This rating was last reviewed by Standard & 
Poor’s in June 2016.  Such ratings reflect only the views of the rating agency and any desired explanation 
of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating agency. 
 
The component unit, Santa Cruz Sanitation District, had total long-term debt outstanding of $17,373,151 
as compared to $20,344,123 in the prior year. This amount was comprised of $2,196,665 of Waste Water 
Revenue Refunding Bonds (including unamortized bond premium), $255,000 of Limited Obligation 
Refunding Improvement Bonds, and $14,921,486 of Loans Payable.  During the year, retirement of debt 
amounted to $2,970,972.  
  
Additional information on the County’s long-term debt can be found in Note No. 10 on pages 85-93 of this 
report. 
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FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 BUDGET AND ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

 
The following factors were considered in preparing the County’s operating budget for fiscal year 2015-2016: 
 

• The budget is projecting a steady improvement in County revenues. For budget year 2016‐17, local 
Property Taxes, Transient Occupancy Taxes, and Retail Sales Taxes are estimated to grow in the 
3% range. The adopted budget estimates are on the conservative side of the range. 

 

• Total Governmental Fund revenues showed an increase of 10%, or $45 million, comparing 2016‐
17 budget to 2015‐16 actual revenues. The 2016‐17 budget shows an increase in General Fund 
total revenues of 9%, or $37 million, compared to 2015‐16 actual revenues. 

 

• The budget appropriations for total Governmental Fund expenditures for FY 16‐17 includes a 17% 
increase, or $80.4 million, when compared to 2015‐16 actual and a decrease of less than 1%, or 
$1.3 million, when compared to the prior year adjusted budget. 

 

• As of June 30, 2016, the available spendable General Fund balance was $51.1 million. Of this 
amount, $17.3 million was Committed and $33.8 million is Assigned, but remains available for 
appropriation.  

 
• There was an increase of 8.1 positions, 5 of which were in the newly created Office of Cannabis 

Licensing. 
 

 
 

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 
 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all those with an 
interest in the County’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Auditor-Controller’s Office, County 
of Santa Cruz, 701 Ocean Street, Room 100, Santa Cruz, CA 95060. 
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GOVERNMENTAL FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is used to account for sources and uses of financial resources 
traditionally associated with governments, and which are not required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
Housing Fund – The Housing Fund is primarily used to account for Community Development Block 
Grant Programs. The principal sources of revenues are State grants and housing rehabilitation loan 
repayments. 

 
Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used 
for the acquisition of land, and acquisition and construction of major facilities other than those financed by 
the proprietary funds. 

 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds – Nonmajor Governmental Funds is the aggregate of all the nonmajor 
governmental funds. 
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PROPRIETARY FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

Proprietary Funds – Proprietary Funds consist of Enterprise Funds and Internal Service Funds. 
 

Enterprise Funds – The Enterprise Funds are used to account for County operations that are financed 
and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The intent of the County in using this 
type of fund is to determine that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing these services 
to the general public on a continuing basis are financed or recovered primarily through user charges. 

 
County Disposal Sites CSA 9C – The County Disposal Sites CSA 9C Fund is used to account 
for the activities of the County’s refuse utility, which provides refuse pick-up services, recycling 
services, and a sanitary landfill for residents of the County. 

 
Internal Service Funds – The Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or 
services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and 
to other government units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 
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FIDUCIARY FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

Fiduciary Funds – The Fiduciary Funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the County. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial  statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs. 

 
Agency Funds – The Agency Funds are used to account for the receipt and disbursement of various 
taxes, deposits, deductions, and property collected by the County, acting in the capacity of an agent, 
for distribution to other governmental entities or other organizations. 

 
Investment Trust Fund – The Investment Trust Fund is used to account for the investment pool that 
is managed by the County Treasurer for the purpose of increasing interest earnings through 
investment activities. 

 
Private Purpose Trust Fund – The Private Purpose Trust Fund is used to report resources of other 
trust arrangements in which principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other 
governments.
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 

 
The County of Santa Cruz (County) was established by an act of the State Legislature of California in 1850 
and is governed by a five-member elected Board of Supervisors (the Board). The Board is responsible for the 
legislative and executive control of the County.  The County provides various services on a countywide basis 
including law and justice, education, detention, social, health, hospital, fire protection, road construction, 
road maintenance, transportation, park and recreation facilities, elections and records, communications, 
planning, zoning, and tax collection. 
 
As required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP), the accompanying basic 
financial statements present the County (the primary government) and its component units.  Component units 
are legally separate entities for which the Board is considered to be financially accountable.  Component units 
are entities that meet any one of the following tests: 
 

1. The Board appoints the voting majority of the board and: 
♦ is able to impose its will on the component unit and/or 
♦ is in a relationship of financial benefit or burden with the component unit 

2. The component unit is fiscally dependent upon the County.  
3. The financial statements of the County would be misleading if data from the component unit were 

omitted.  
 
The basic financial statements include both blended and discretely presented component units. The blended 
component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the County’s operations and so 
data from these units are combined with data of the primary government.  The discretely presented component 
unit is reported in a separate column in the Government-Wide Financial Statements since it does not have a 
shared governing body nor is it of exclusive or almost exclusive benefit to the primary government. 
 
Blended Component Units  
 
The following entities serve citizens of the County and provide for the construction and maintenance of 
County parks and recreation, police protection, mosquito abatement, fire protection, street lighting, roads, 
flood control, sewer, and refuse disposal districts.  They are reported as if they were part of the primary 
government because they are governed by the Board.  The Board establishes the work program and 
adopts the budget. Administrative services are provided by various departments of the County. 
 
Santa Cruz Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 

 
Santa Cruz Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 (Zone 7) was established to provide funding 
for the local share of proposed Army Corps of Engineers flood control projects on the Pajaro River, Salsipuedes 
Creek, and Corralitos Creek.  Zone 7 is governed by a seven-member board consisting of the Board and two 
additional members, one appointed by the City of Watsonville and another appointed by the Pajaro Valley Water 
Management Agency. Administrative services are provided by the County’s Department of Public Works. 
Complete financial statements may be obtained from the Department of Public Works at 701 Ocean Street, 
Room 410, Santa Cruz, CA 95060. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

A. Reporting Entity (Continued) 

Blended Component Units, (Continued) 

Santa Cruz County Financing Authorities 

The Santa Cruz County Financing Authorities (Authorities) facilitate financing for the County. The Authorities 
are established and governed by the Board and are not legally required to adopt a budget. Administrative 
services are provided by the County. Complete financial statements may be obtained from the County at 701 
Ocean Street, Room 100, Santa Cruz, CA 95060. 

Discretely Presented Component Unit 

Santa Cruz County Sanitation District 

The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District (District) is included as a discretely presented component unit of the 
County because: 1) the Board appoints the District’s governing board, and 2) the District has an ongoing 
relationship with the County.  The District is governed by a three-member board and managed by the 
County’s Department of Public Works under the direction of the District Board of Directors.  The District, 
as a component unit, is presented separately from the primary government in the Government-Wide 
Financial Statements. Administrative services are provided by the County Department of Public Works 
and central support departments (i.e., personnel, purchasing, treasury, etc.).  Complete financial statements 
may be obtained from the County, 701 Ocean Street, Room 410, Santa Cruz, CA 95060. 

     Districts Governed by the Board of Supervisors 

Public Protection 
• Aptos Seascape County Service Area (CSA) 3
• County Fire Protection CSA 48
• Police Protection CSA 38
• Pajaro Storm Drain Maintenance District
• Pajaro Dunes Fire Protection CSA 4
• Pajaro Dunes Station Maintenance Fund
• Pajaro Dunes Station Assessment District Reserve
• Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone 4
• Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone 5
• Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone 6
• Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone 8
• Santa Cruz County Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone – General

Health and Sanitation 
• Pasatiempo Rolling Woods Sewer District

Recreation and Culture 
• Streetscape CSA 9E
• Parks and Recreation District CSA 11
• CSA 11 Zone E
• CSA 11L Lompico Community



57 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

A. Reporting Entity (Continued) 

Public Ways and Facilities 
• County Highway Lighting CSA 9 • Redwood Drive CSA 33
• County Highway Residential Lighting CSA 9 Zone A • Larsen Road CSA 34
• School Crossing Guard CSA 9 Zone B • County Estates CSA 35
• County Road Maintenance CSA 9D Zone 1 • Forest Glen CSA 36
• County Road Maintenance CSA 9D Zone 2 • Roberts Road CSA 37
• CSA 9D Zone 3 • Reed Street CSA 39
• Hutchinson Road CSA 13 • Ralston Way CSA 40
• Oakflat Road CSA 13A • Loma Prieta CSA 41
• Huckleberry Woods Road CSA 15 • Sunlit Lane CSA 42
• Robak Drive CSA 16 • Bonita-Encino Drive CSA 43
• Empire Acres CSA 17 • Sunbeam Woods CSA 44
• Whitehouse Canyon CSA 18 • Pinecrest CSA 46
• Westdale Drive CSA 21 • Braemoor CSA 47
• Kelly Hill CSA 22 • Vineyard CSA 50
• Old Ranch Road CSA 23 • Hopkins Gulch CSA 51
• Pineridge CSA 24 • Upper Pleasant Valley CSA 52
• Viewpoint Road CSA 25 • Mosquito Abatement CSA 53
• Hidden Valley CSA 26 • Riverdale Park Road CSA 55
• Lomond Terrace CSA 28 • Felton Grove CSA 56
• Glenwood Acres CSA 30
• View Circle CSA 32
• Soquel Village Parking Improvement

• Mansfield Street Assessment Dist.
• Ridge Drive CSA 58
• McGaffigan Mill Road CSA 59

• Underground Utilities #4-41st Ave.

Geologic Hazard Abatement Districts (GHAD) 
• Corralitos GHAD
• Mid-County GHAD
• Heartwood GHAD

The following Board Governed District funds are reported as Enterprise Funds (Sewer and Refuse Disposal 
Districts): 

• Boulder Creek CSA 7 • Place De Mer CSA 2
• Rolling Woods CSA 10 • Sand Dollar Beach CSA 5
• Septic Tank Maintenance CSA 12 • Trestle Beach CSA 20
• Freedom County Sanitation District • Summit West CSA 54
• Davenport County Sanitation District • Graham Hill CSA 57
• County Disposal Sites CSA 9C

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The more significant of the County’s accounting 
policies are described below.  The accounting policies of the County conform to GAAP for local governmental 
units.  The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing 
accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund 
balance, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.  Governmental resources are allocated to 
and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purpose of which they are to be spent and means by 
which spending activities are controlled.    
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

The following GASB Statements have been implemented in the current financial statements: 

GASB Statement No. 72 

The primary objective of GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, is to address 
accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements.  The requirements of this 
statement are effective for financial statements reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2015.  The effect of 
this statement can be seen in Note 2 – Cash and Investments Section F, which demonstrates the fair value 
measurements of the County’s investments. 

GASB Statement No. 73 

GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension and Related Assets that are not 
within the Scope of GASB Statement No. 68, and Amendments to Certain Provision of GASB Statements No. 
67 and No. 68, is intended to improve the usefulness of information about pensions included in the general 
purpose external financial reports of state and local governments.  The requirements of this statement are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2015, except those provisions that address employers and 
governmental nonemployer contributing entities for pensions that are not within the scope of GASB Statement 
No. 68, which are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016.  This statement has no significant 
impact on the County’s financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 76 

The objective of GASB Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State 
and Local Governments, is to identify, in the context of the current governmental financial reporting 
environment, the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  The provisions of this 
statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2015.  This statement has no significant 
impact on the County’s financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 79 

GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants, establishes specific criteria 
used to determine whether a qualifying external investment pool may elect to use an amortized cost exception 
to fair value measurement. Those criteria will provide qualifying external investment pools and participants in 
those pools with consistent application of an amortized cost-based measurement for financial reporting 
purposes. The statement also establishes additional note disclosures for qualifying external investment pools. 
There was no material impact on the County's financial statement as a result of the implementation of GASB 
Statement No. 79. 

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements 

The following GASB Statements will become effective for fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2016.  The County 
is currently analyzing its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on the financial statements for 
these GASB Statements. 

GASB Statement No. 74 

The objective of GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than 
Pension Plans, is to improve the usefulness of information about postemployment benefits other than pensions 
(other postemployment benefits or OPEB).  The requirements of this statement are effective for the County’s 
fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2016. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements, (Continued) 

GASB Statement No. 75 

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 
Pensions, addresses accounting and financial reporting requirements for postemployment benefits other than 
pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB).  The requirements of this statement are effective for the 
County’s fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2017. 

GASB Statement No. 77 

GASB Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, requires governments that enter into tax abatement 
agreements to disclose certain information about the agreements.  The requirements of this statement are 
effective for the County’s fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2015. 

GASB Statement No. 78 

GASB Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans, 
impact of implementation on the County’s financial statements has not been fully judged. The requirements of 
this statement are effective for the County’s fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2015. 

GASB Statement No. 80 

GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, impact of implementation on 
the County’s financial statements has not been fully judged. The requirements of this statement are effective 
for the County’s fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2016. 

GASB Statement No. 81 

GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, impact of implementation on the County’s 
financial statements has not been fully judged. The requirements of this statement are effective for the County’s 
fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2016. 

GASB Statement No. 82 

GASB Statement No. 82, Pension Issues, impact of implementation on the County’s financial statements has 
not been fully judged. The requirements of this statement are effective for the County’s fiscal year beginning 
after June 15, 2016. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

Government–Wide Financial Statements 

The County’s Government-Wide Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of 
Activities.  These statements present summaries of governmental and business-type activities for the County 
accompanied by a total column, as well as its discretely presented component unit.  Fiduciary activities of the 
County are not included in these statements. 

These basic financial statements are presented on an “economic resources” measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, all of the County’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 
and deferred inflows of resources including capital assets, as well as infrastructure assets, and long-term 
liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position.  The Statement of Activities presents 
changes in net position.  Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which 
they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. 
Certain types of transactions are reported as program revenues for the County in three categories:  

• Fees, fines, and charges for services
• Operating grants and contributions
• Capital grants and contributions

Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund activities. 
All internal balances in the Statement of Net Position have been eliminated except those representing balances 
between the governmental activities and the business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances 
and eliminated in the total primary government column, if any. In the Statement of Activities, internal service 
fund transactions have been eliminated; however, those transactions between governmental and business-type 
activities have not been eliminated.  The following interfund activities have been eliminated: 

• Due to and from other funds
• Advances to and from other funds
• Transfers in and out

The County prepares a County-wide cost allocation plan in accordance with Federal Office of Management and 
Budget (OMB).  Using this directive, all indirect support costs are allocated to County funds and departments 
using a step-down method so that the true cost of operations can be included in determining the rates to be 
charged to users. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds aggregated.  The County 
has presented all major funds that met the applicable criteria. 

The County reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund – The County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in other specialized funds. 

Housing Fund – accounts for the County’s housing developments and loans.  Revenues come from State 
and Federal awards and grants, and offsets from major housing projects as well as housing impact fees. 

Capital Projects Fund – used to account for the construction or acquisition of capital assets such as land, 
construction-in-progress, buildings and improvements, improvements other than buildings, and 
infrastructure.  Revenues are provided by County Lease Revenue bonds as well as contributions from the 
former Redevelopment Agency per the County-Redevelopment Agency Cooperation Agreement. 

All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources” measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, only current assets and current liabilities are 
included on the balance sheets.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing 
uses) in fund balance.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the 
accounting period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current 
period. 

Revenues are recognized when “measurable” and “available.”  Measurable means knowing or being able to 
reasonably estimate the amount.  Available means having been earned and collectible within the current period 
or within 60 days after year end for property tax revenues, and 180 days after year end with limited exceptions 
extending the availability period for certain grant revenues.  Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded 
when the related liability is incurred, except for debt service expenditures (principal and interest), as well as 
expenditures related to compensated absences, which are reported when due. 

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are 
all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. 

Reconciliations of the Governmental Fund Financial Statements to the Government-Wide Financial Statements 
are provided to explain the differences created by the integrated approach of GASB Statement No. 34. 



62 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position; a Statement of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Fund Net Position; and a Statement of Cash Flows for all proprietary funds.  The County reports 
the following major proprietary funds: 

County Disposal Sites CSA 9C Fund – Accounts for the operation and expansion of the County’s 
landfills and implementation of state mandated environmental health programs. User fees, service area 
charges and revenues from the waste recovery and recycling projects finance the fund. 

Internal Service Funds – Accounts for central duplicating, information services, public works, fleet 
management, and self-insurance services provided to other departments, or to other governments, on a 
cost reimbursement basis.  Internal service balances and activities have been combined with the 
governmental activities in the Government-Wide Financial Statements.   

The other proprietary funds provide sewer collection, treatment, and disposal services as well as septic 
tanks and water treatment within their area of service, along with unincorporated parts of the County. 

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Accordingly, all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the Statement of Net Position.  The Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases 
(expenses) in total net position.  Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period 
in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. 

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 

Fiduciary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position for all Agency Funds, the Investment 
Trust Fund, and the Private Purpose Trust Fund and a Statement of Changes in Net Position for the Investment 
Trust Fund and the Private Purpose Trust Fund.  The County reports the following fiduciary funds: 

Agency Funds – Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve 
measurement of results of operations.  Agency funds are accounted for using the accrual basis accounting. 
These funds, including State and County revenue funds, tax collection funds, deposit funds, and clearing 
and revolving funds, account for assets held by the County in an agency capacity for individuals or other 
government units. 

Investment Trust Fund – Accounts for the external portion of the County Treasurer’s investment pool, 
which commingles resources of legally separate local governments with the County in an investment 
portfolio for the benefit of all participants. 

Private Purpose Trust Fund – Reports resources of all other trust arrangements in which principal and 
income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments.  Private purpose trust funds are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  This fund 
is used to report the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and 
activities of the County of Santa Cruz Redevelopment Successor Agency. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

C. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 

The County’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 
investments with original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.  Cash and cash 
equivalents are combined with investments and displayed as Cash and Investments.  

Highly liquid market investments with maturities of one year or less at time of purchase are stated at amortized 
cost.  All other investments are stated at fair value.  Market value is used as fair value for those securities for 
which market quotations are readily available. 

The County participates in an investment pool managed by the State titled Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pool funds in structured notes and asset-backed securities.  LAIF’s 
investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of the State collateralizing these investments.  
In addition, these structured notes and asset-backed securities are subject to market risk as well as to changes 
in interest rates. 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures (an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 3), certain disclosure requirements, if applicable, are provided for deposit and investment risk in 
the following areas: 

 Interest Rate Risk
 Credit Risk

♦ Overall
♦ Custodial Credit Risk
♦ Concentration of Credit Risk

 Foreign Currency Risk

All cash and investments of proprietary funds are held in the County’s investment pool.  Therefore, all cash and 
investments in the proprietary funds are considered cash and cash equivalents for purposes of the statement 
of cash flows as these cash pools have the general characteristic of a demand deposit account. 

D. Interfund Transactions 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 
fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds” (i.e., current portion of interfund loans) or “advances 
from/to other funds” (i.e., noncurrent portion of interfund loans).  Any residual balances outstanding between 
the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the Government-Wide Financial 
Statements as “internal balances.”  

E. Inventories and Prepaid Items 

Inventories within the various fund types consist of materials and supplies which are valued at cost on a first-
in, first-out basis.  Cost is determined by the weighted average cost method.  A reservation of fund balance has 
been reported in the governmental funds to show that inventories do not constitute “available spendable 
resources.” 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.  The cost of prepaid items is recorded as 
expenditures/expenses when consumed, rather than when purchased.  A reservation of fund balance has been 
reported in the governmental funds to show that prepaid amounts do not constitute “available spendable 
resources.” 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

F. Capital Assets 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

Capital assets, which include land, construction-in-progress, buildings and improvements, improvements other 
than buildings, machinery and equipment, autos and trucks, equipment under capitalized leases, and 
infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, traffic signals, and similar items), are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities in the Government-Wide Financial Statements.  County policy has set 
the capitalization threshold for reporting capital assets at $5,000 (for equipment and vehicles) and $25,000 
(for infrastructure, buildings and structures).  Capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical 
cost if actual historical cost was not available.  Donated assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the 
date donated. 

Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Infrastructure 4-65 years 
Buildings and structures 10-50 years 
Equipment and vehicles 3-15 years 

For infrastructure systems, the County elected to use the “Basic Approach” as defined by GASB Statement No. 
34 for infrastructure reporting.   

The County defines infrastructure as the basic physical assets that allow the County to function.  The assets 
include streets, bridges, sidewalks, drainage systems, lighting systems, etc.  Each major infrastructure system 
can be divided into subsystems.  For example, the street system can be subdivided into pavement, curb and 
gutters, sidewalks, medians, streetlights, landscaping and land.  These subsystems were not delineated in the 
basic financial statements.  The appropriate operating department maintains information regarding the 
subsystems. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest on 
construction-related debt incurred during the period of construction is capitalized as a cost of the constructed 
assets.   

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred. Betterments and major improvements which 
significantly increase values, change capacities, or extend useful lives are capitalized.  Upon sale or retirement 
of capital assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and 
any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The Governmental Fund Financial Statements do not present General Government capital assets. 
Consequently, capital assets are shown as a reconciling item in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds 
Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position. 

The capital assets of the enterprise funds in the Proprietary Fund Financial Statements are the same as those 
shown in the business-type activities of the Government-Wide Financial Statements.  Internal Service Funds’ 
capital assets are combined with governmental activities. 

G. Land Held for Resale 

Land held for resale is carried at cost.  An amount equal to the carrying value of land is reported in the 
nonspendable fund balance because such assets are not available to finance the County’s current operations. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

H. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 

The County recognizes deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 63 and GASB Statement No. 65.  Deferred outflows and inflows of resources were items 
previously reported as assets and liabilities and are defined as “a consumption of net position by the government 
that is applicable to a future reporting period, and an acquisition of net position by the government that is 
applicable to a future reporting period, respectively.” 

Deferred Charges- Deferred loss on Bond Refunding 

The deferred loss on bond refunding represents the excess of the amount placed in escrow (reacquisition 
price) over the carrying amount of the refunding bonds and is amortized as a component of interest expense 
over the remaining life of the refunding bonds (i.e. the shorter of the remaining life of the refunded or 
refunding bonds). 

I. Long-Term Debt 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

Long-term debt and other financed obligations are reported as liabilities in Government-Wide Financial 
Statements and the Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. 

Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest 
method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable premium or discount.  Debt issuance costs should 
be reported as expenses in the period incurred. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The Governmental Fund Financial Statements do not present long-term debt.  As such, long-term debt is shown 
as a reconciling item in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position. 

J. Compensated Absences 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

For governmental and business-type activities, compensated absences are recorded as incurred and the 
related expenses and liabilities are reported. 

Fund Financial Statements 

In governmental funds, compensated absences are recorded as expenditures in the year paid, as it is the 
County’s policy to liquidate any unpaid compensated absences at June 30 from future resources, rather than 
currently available financial resources. In proprietary funds, compensated absences are expensed to the 
various funds in the period they are earned, and such fund’s share of the unpaid liability is recorded as a long-
term liability of the fund.  Vested or accumulated compensated absences in proprietary funds are recorded as 
an expense and liability of those funds as the benefits accrue to employees.  Accrued but unpaid liabilities at 
year-end are recorded in the respective funds. 

K. Claims Payable 

The County records a liability to reflect an actuarial estimate of ultimate uninsured losses for both general 
liability claims (including property damage claims) and workers’ compensation claims.  The estimated liability 
for workers’ compensation claims and general liability claims includes “incurred but not reported” (IBNR) claims. 
There is no fixed payment schedule to pay these liabilities. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

L.  Pensions 

In government-wide financial statements, retirement plans (pensions) are required to be recognized and 
disclosed using the accrual basis of accounting (see Note 14 and the required supplementary information (RSI) 
on page 123 of this report), regardless of the amount recognized as pension expenditures on the governmental 
fund financial statements, which use the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

In general, the County recognizes a net pension liability, which represents the County’s proportionate share of 
the excess of the total pension liability over the fiduciary net position of the pension reflected in the actuarial 
report provided by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). The net pension liability is 
measured as of the County’s prior fiscal year end. Changes in the net pension liability are recorded, in the 
period incurred, as pension expense or as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources 
depending on the nature of the change. The changes in net pension liability that are recorded as deferred 
inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources (that arise from changes in actuarial assumptions or 
other inputs and differences between expected or actual experience) are amortized over the weighted average 
remaining service life of all participants in the respective pension plan and are recorded as a component of 
pension expense beginning with the period in which they are incurred. 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources relating to 
pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County’s pension plan with 
CalPERS and additions to/deductions from the plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefits terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value. 

Projected earnings on pension investments are recognized as a component of pension expense. Differences 
between projected and actual investment earnings are reported as deferred inflows of resources or deferred 
outflows of resources and amortized as a component of pension expense on a closed basis over a five-year 
period beginning with the period in which the difference occurred. Each subsequent year will incorporate an 
additional closed basis five-year period of recognition. 

M.  Net Position and Fund Balances 

Government-Wide Financial Statements - In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, net position is 
classified in the following: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – This amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding debt that is attributed to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of the assets. 

Restricted Net Position – This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws 
or regulations of other governments. 

Unrestricted Net Position – This amount is all net position that does not meet the definition of “net 
investment in capital assets” or “restricted net position.” 

Fund Financial Statements - In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance as 
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned based primarily on the extent to which the County 
is bound to honor constraints on how specific amounts can be spent. 

Nonspendable fund balance – amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not spendable in 
form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 



67 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

M.  Net Position and Fund Balances (Continued) 

Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

Restricted fund balance – amounts with constraints placed on their use that are either (a) externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed fund balance – amounts that can only be used for specific purposes determined by formal action 
of the County’s highest level of decision-making authority (the Board) and that remain binding unless 
removed in the same manner. The underlying action that imposed the limitation needs to occur no later 
than the close of the reporting period.  

The establishment of a committed fund balance requires the passage of a resolution by a simple majority 
vote. Board action is required to change or remove the commitment.  The Board resolution shall identify 
the title of the commitment, describe the specific purpose for the commitment, and the actual amount of the 
commitment or the process or formula necessary to calculate the actual amount.  Funding for Committed 
fund balance shall be appropriated annually by the Board as part of the budget approval process. 

Assigned fund balance – amounts that are constrained by the County’s intent to be used for specific 
purposes. The intent can be established at either the highest level of decision-making authority, or by a 
body or an official designated for that purpose.  

The Board has the authority to assign funds for a specific purpose with a simple majority vote. The same 
action is required to change or remove an assignment.  

The County Administrative Officer also has the authority to assign funds for specific purposes, and to 
change or remove the assignment.  The establishment, change or removal of an assignment by the County 
Administrative Officer must be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.  The Board may change or 
remove an assignment established by the County Administrative Officer with a simple majority vote.   

An appropriation of existing fund balance to eliminate a projected budgetary deficit in the subsequent year’s 
budget may be classified as assigned fund balance. 

Unassigned fund balance – the residual classification for the County’s General Fund that includes amounts 
not contained in the other classifications. The General Fund is the only fund that can report a positive 
unassigned fund balance amount.  In other funds, the unassigned classification is used only if expenditures 
incurred for specific purposes exceed the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, 
and it may be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund balance in that fund. 

The County considers restricted fund balances to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted 
resources are available for use.  Similarly, when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts 
in any of the unrestricted classifications of fund balance could be used, the County considers Committed 
amounts to be reduced first, followed by Assigned amounts and then Unassigned amounts. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

M.  Net Position and Fund Balances (Continued) 

Fund Balance Policy - The County believes that sound financial management principles require that sufficient 
funds be retained by the County to provide a stable financial base at all times. To retain this stable financial 
base, the County needs to maintain unrestricted fund balance in its County funds sufficient to fund cash flows 
of the County and to provide financial reserves for unanticipated expenditures and/or revenue shortfalls of an 
emergency nature. Committed, assigned and unassigned fund balances are considered unrestricted. 

The purpose of the County’s fund balance policy is to maintain a prudent level of financial resources to protect 
against reducing service levels or raising taxes and fees because of temporary revenue shortfalls or unpredicted 
one-time expenditures. 

The County has adopted a policy to achieve and maintain committed and assigned fund balance categories of 
no less than 7% of the upcoming budget year’s estimated revenues. 

Additional detailed information, along with the complete Fund Balance Policy can be obtained from the County 
Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector’s office located at 701 Ocean Street, Room 100, Santa Cruz, CA 
95060. 

Reserve for Economic Uncertainty 

The County has established a separate committed fund balance account known as the Reserve for Economic 
Uncertainty. Funding for the Reserve for Economic Uncertainty is established by a resolution of the Board, and 
will be approved annually by the Board during the budget approval process. 

The County’s Reserve for Economic Uncertainty is to be used only during recessions or periods of economic 
distress as measured by periods of time when the local unemployment rate exceeds 8% and/or the rate of 
inflation exceeds the growth in property taxes.  Any use of funds requires a four-fifths vote of the Board 
appropriating the funds. 

As of June 30, 2016, the County’s Reserve for Economic Uncertainty fund balance was $10,000,000 and is 
included in the General Fund. 

Reserve for Natural Disasters 

The County has established a separate committed fund balance account known as the Reserve for Natural 
Disasters. Funding for the Reserve for Natural Disasters is established by a resolution of the Board, and will be 
approved annually by the Board during the budget approval process. 

The purpose of the County’s Reserve for Natural Disasters is to fund the extraordinary operating costs, legal 
costs, and cash flow problems associated with delays in State and Federal reimbursements for any natural 
disaster declared by the County’s Director of Emergency Services and subsequently ratified by the Board, and 
the State or the Federal government.  Any use of funds requires a four-fifths vote of the Board appropriating 
the funds. 

As of June 30, 2016, the County’s Reserve for Natural Disasters fund balance was $1,251,089 and is included 
in the General Fund. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

N. Property Tax Levy, Collection and Maximum Rates 

The State of California Constitution, Article XIIIA provides that the combined maximum property tax rate 
on any given property may not exceed 1% of its assessed value unless an additional amount for general 
obligation debt has been approved by the voters.  Assessed value is calculated at 100% of market 
value as defined by Article XIIIA and may be increased by no more than 2% per year unless the property 
is sold or transferred.  These general property tax rates do not apply to taxes levied to pay the interest and 
redemption charges on any indebtedness incurred prior to June 6, 1978, or subsequently approved by the 
voters.  Supplemental property taxes are levied on a pro rata basis when changes in assessed valuation 
occur due to sales transactions or the completion of construction.  The State Legislature has determined 
the method of distribution among the counties, cities, school districts, and other districts of receipts from 
the 1% property tax levy. 

The County assesses properties, bills for, and collects taxes as follows: 

These taxes are secured by liens on the property being taxed.  The Board annually sets the rates of the County 
and district taxes and levies County and district taxes as provided by law.  The term “secured” refers to taxes 
on land and buildings, while “unsecured” refers to taxes on personal property other than land and buildings. 
During fiscal year 1993-1994, the Board adopted the Alternative Method of Tax Apportionment (the Teeter 
Plan).  Under this method, the County allocates to all taxing jurisdictions under the County, 100% of the secured 
property taxes billed, even if it has not yet been collected.  In return, the County retains the subsequent 
delinquent payments and associated penalties and interest.  The penalties and interest are accumulated in an 
Agency Fund.  The County may transfer to the General Fund any excess over the reserve required by the Board 
and the State. 

Delinquent property taxes receivable are shown on the statement of net position of the property tax collections 
funds reported in the Agency Funds.  Under state law, real property is not subject to sale for reasons of 
delinquent taxes until the end of the fifth year of delinquency, and the taxpayer may arrange to repay the 
delinquent taxes over a five year period and any time within the five year period, although the property is subject 
to a cash redemption up to the time of the sale. 

Secured property taxes are recorded as revenue when apportioned in the fiscal year of the levy.  The County 
apportions secured property tax revenue in accordance with the alternate method of distribution prescribed by 
Section 4705 of the State of California Revenue and Taxation Code.  This alternate method provides for 
crediting each applicable fund with its total secured taxes upon completion of the secured tax roll. 

Under the alternate apportionment method, specified amounts of penalties and interest collected on delinquent 
secured taxes are held in trust in the secured tax losses reserve fund to fund specified tax redemption shortfalls. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

O. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities and the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the related reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

The County sponsors an investment pool that is managed by the County Treasurer for the purpose of increasing 
interest earnings through investment activities. Cash and investments for most County activities are included 
in the investment pool.  Interest earned on the investment pool is distributed to the participating funds monthly 
using a formula based on the average daily cash balance of each fund. Interest earned through June 30, 2016, 
was distributed on the seventh business day during July 2016, and is shown as part of receivables on the 
financial statements. 

The following is a summary of cash and investments at June 30, 2016: 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

At June 30, 2016, the County’s cash on hand, deposits, and investments consisted of: 

The carrying amounts of the County’s cash deposits were $13,336,147 at June 30, 2016, of which the bank 
balances were fully insured or collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institutions in the 
County’s name as discussed below. 

The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan associations to secure the 
County’s cash deposits by pledging securities as collateral.  This California Government Code states that 
collateral pledged in this manner shall have the effect of perfecting a security interest in such collateral superior 
to those of a general creditor.  Thus, collateral for cash deposits is considered to be held in the County's name. 

The market value of pledged securities must equal at least 110% of the County’s cash deposits.  State law also 
allows institutions to secure County deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% 
of the County’s total cash deposits.  The County may waive collateral requirements for cash deposits, which 
are fully insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  The County, however, has not 
waived the collateralization requirements. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

A. Investments 
 

The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the County by the California Government 
Code or the County’s investment policy, where more restrictive.  The table also identifies certain provisions of 
the County’s investment policy that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration risk. 

 

 
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and 
for External Investment Pools, investments were stated at cost, as the fair market value adjustment at year end 
was immaterial. 
 
Investments of debt proceeds held by the bond trustee are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, 
rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the County’s investment policy.   

 
B. Interest Rate Risk 
 

The County manages its exposure to declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its 
investment portfolio to five years or less in accordance with its investment policy.   

 
At June 30, 2016, the County had the following investment maturities: 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

C. Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

At June 30, 2016, in accordance with State law and the County’s Investment Policy, the County did not have 
5% or more of its net investment in commercial paper, corporate bonds or medium-term notes of a single 
organization, nor did it have 10% or more of its net investment in any one money market mutual fund. 
Investments in obligations of the U.S. government, U.S. government agencies, or government-sponsored 
enterprises are exempt from these limitations. 

 
The following schedule is a summary of the credit quality distribution and concentration of credit risk by 
investment type as a percentage of the County Investment Pool’s fair value at June 30, 2016. 
 

 

 
 
D. Custodial Credit Risk 

 
For investments and deposits held with fiscal agents, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the 
failure of the counterparty, the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or deposits that 
are in the possession of an outside party.  At year end, the County’s investment pool and cash with fiscal agents 
had no securities exposed to custodial credit risk. 
 

E. Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 
 
The County is a participant in LAIF which is regulated by California Government Code Section 16429 under the 
oversight of the Treasurer of the State.  The County’s investments with LAIF at June 30, 2016, included a 
portion of the pool funds invested in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities:   
 

Structured Notes: debt securities (other than asset-backed securities) whose cash flow characteristics 
(coupon rate, redemption amount, or stated maturity) depend upon one or more indices and/or have 
embedded forwards or options. 
 
Asset-Backed Securities: generally mortgage-backed securities that entitle their purchasers to receive a 
share of the cash flows from a pool of assets such as principal and interest repayments from a pool of 
mortgages (for example, Collateralized Mortgage Obligations) or credit card receivables. 

 
As of June 30, 2016, the County had $38,060,159 invested in LAIF, which had invested 0.08% of the pool 
investment funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities as compared to 0.13% in the previous year. 
LAIF provided a fair value factor of 1.000621222 to calculate the fair value of the investments in LAIF.  However, 
an adjustment was not made to reflect the fair market value of LAIF, as the fair market value adjustment was 
considered immaterial. 
 
LAIF is overseen by the Local Agency Investment Advisory Board, which consists of five members, in 
accordance with State statute. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

F. Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Pool categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. These principles recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows:   
 

Level 1: Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets, 
 
Level 2: Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset either directly or indirectly, 
which may include inputs in markets that are not considered to be active, and 
 
Level 3: Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources. 

 
The Pool has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2016: 
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NOTE 3 - RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

Cash and investments at June 30, 2016, that are restricted by legal or contractual requirements are comprised 
of the following: 
 

  
NOTE 4 – RECEIVABLES 
 

Receivables at year end for the County’s major individual funds and nonmajor and internal service funds in the 
aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 
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NOTE 5 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 
A. Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 

Long-Term Internal Balances 
 
At June 30, 2016, the County had the following long-term internal balances:  
 

 
 

The “Internal balances” on the Statement of Net Position (Government-wide) represents the net total amount of 
due to/from and advances to/from between Governmental funds and Enterprise funds and between Internal 
Service funds and Enterprise funds.  These due to/from amounts include any that are the result of allocating 
operating profits and losses of the Internal Service funds to the Enterprise funds (Internal Service fund 
allocation). The due to/from amounts that are the results of operating profits/losses of the Internal Service funds 
are cumulative. Each current year amount is netted with the amounts from prior year. 

 
B. Fund Financial and Proprietary Fund Statements 
 

Due to/from 
 

The County had the following due to/from other funds as of June 30, 2016:  
 

 
 

All balances resulted from short-term loans used to cover operating cash deficits at year end.  These amounts 
will be repaid in the following fiscal year. 
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NOTE 5 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 
B. Fund Financial and Proprietary Fund Statements (Continued) 

 
Long-Term Advances 
 
The County had the following long-term advances as of June 30, 2016: 
 

 
 
This balance consists of a long-term advance between the Financing Authorities Fund and the County Disposal 
Sites CSA 9C Fund of $244,680. 

 
Transfers in/out 
 
The County had the following transfers for the year ending June 30, 2016:  
 

 
Transfers are contributions to other funds to finance various programs in accordance with budgetary 
authorizations.  
 
Transfers to/from other funds at June 30, 2016 are as follows: 
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NOTE 6 - LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
GASB Statement No. 38, Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures, requires the disclosure of significant 
receivable balances not expected to be collected within one year of the date of the financial statements. 
Following is the detail of receivable balance not expected to be collected within the next fiscal year: 

 

 
 

 
The St. Stephens Predevelopment loan is an unsecured loan, which will be converted to a loan secured by the 
deed of trust to the property upon commencement of development.  All remaining loans are housing loans 
secured by deeds of trust on the properties. 
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NOTE 6 - LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 
 

B. Business-Type Financial Statements 
 
The County had the following loans receivable as of June 30, 2016: 
 

  
NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS 

A. Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 

The following is a summary of capital assets for governmental activities: 
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NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
A. Government-Wide Financial Statements, (Continued) 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

 
 

 
The following is a summary of capital assets for business-type activities:  
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NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
A. Government-Wide Financial Statements, (Continued) 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to business-type functions as follows: 
 

  
 
 
 
B. Component Unit – Santa Cruz County Sanitation District (the District) 
 

 
Depreciation expense for the District at June 30, 2016, is $4,334,037. 
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NOTE 8 - SHORT-TERM DEBT – TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES 
 

The County issues tax and revenue anticipation notes annually to meet current expenses, capital expenditures, 
and other obligations or indebtedness until sufficient taxes or revenues are collected to fund the County’s 
operations. 
 
Tax and revenue anticipation notes payable debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016, was as follows: 

 

 
  

NOTE 9 - LEASES 
 
A. Operating Leases 
 

The County has entered into certain operating leases as lessee. Total expenditures for these operating leases 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, were $2,484,338. 
 
As of June 30, 2016, the County has future minimum operating lease payments with a remaining term in excess 
of one year as follows:  
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NOTE 9 – LEASES (Continued) 
 
B. Capital Leases 
 

The County has entered into certain capital lease agreements under which the related equipment, computers, 
vehicles, and furniture become the property of the County.  The leased assets are presented as components 
of capital assets and the lease liabilities are presented as components of long-term debt. 
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NOTE 9 – LEASES (Continued) 
 
B. Capital Leases, (Continued) 
 

As of June 30, 2016, capital lease annual amortization is as follows: 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

The following is a summary of long-term liabilities transactions for the year ended June 30, 2016: 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

Descriptions of the long-term liabilities at June 30, 2016, are as follows: 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

A. Governmental Activities 

At June 30, 2016, annual debt service requirements of governmental activities to maturity are as follows: 

Financing Authorities 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

A. Governmental Activities (Continued) 

Financing Authorities (Continued) 

The Refunding Certificates of Participation, Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Certificates of Participation, and 
Lease Revenue Bonds retirements and related interest payments are paid from revenues from the General 
Fund. The Local Agency Revenue Bonds retirements and related interest payments are paid from revenues 
generated from property owners’ assessments. 

Defeasance of Bonds 

On July 30, 2015, The County of Santa Cruz Financing Authorities issued $13,770,000 2015 Series A Taxable 
Lease Revenue Refunding, with interest rates ranging from 1.142% to  3.973%. The proceeds of the bonds 
were used to (i) refund $12,945,000 of the outstanding 2004 Certificates of Participation bond, (ii) refinance 
existing lease, (iii) fund a reserve for the certificates and (iv) pay the costs incurred in connection with the 
execution and delivery of the certificates.  

As a result of the advanced refunding, the County Financing Authorities decreased its total debt service 
payments by $807,092, resulting in an economic gain of $667,487. 

The 2015 Series A taxable bonds of $13,770,000 were issued to refund the County’s outstanding 2004 
Certificate of Participation which had a total principal outstanding of $12,945,000. The reacquisition price 
exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt by $825,000 resulting in a deferred loss of refunding. This 
loss on refunding will be amortized over the remaining life of the refunded bonds. 

Energy Resources Conservation and Development Commission Loan 

In December 2012, the County entered into a loan agreement with the Energy Resources Conservation and 
Development Commission in the amount of $172,837. The loan bears an annual interest rate of 3% due semi-
annually and matures on December 22, 2017. For the current year, principal and interest paid on the loan was 
$43,445. The outstanding balance of the loan is $57,668.  

B. Business-Type Activities 

At June 30, 2016, annual debt service requirements of business-type activities to maturity are as follows: 

Loans payable principal and interest are paid from various enterprise fund revenues. 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

C. Component Unit 

At June 30, 2016, annual debt service requirements of the District to maturity are as follows: 

During 2005, the District issued $9,335,000 of 2005 Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds which refunded 
the 1977 Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series A, and the 1994 Certificates of Participation issued for the wastewater 
treatment plant.  The bonds are obligations of the District, and are payable from and secured by a pledge of net 
revenues. 

During 2004, the District issued Limited Obligation Refunding Improvement Bonds to refinance the 1994 
Freedom Boulevard Sewer Special Assessment bonds, pay costs related to the issuance of the bonds and to 
make a deposit to a Reserve Fund. 

Loans Payable 

The City of Santa Cruz loan represents 47% of a State Water Resources Control Board loan for which the 
District has an agreement to participate in the repayment. The total loan proceeds made available in fiscal 
year 1998/1999 was approximately $48 million, of which the District’s share was 47% or approximately $24.4 
million of the original principal amount. These funds were used to construct the treatment plant expansion of 
which the District has capacity rights. On December 12, 2013, the City refunded the existing $2.7 million 
2005 Wastewater Bonds and $16.0 million in State Revolving Funds, and issued $18.7 million in 2013 
Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds. The amount of the District’s portion outstanding as of June 30, 2016, 
is $4,603,952. 

During 2009, the District entered into a Project Finance Agreement (Agreement) with the State Water 
Resources Control Board (SWRCB) to finance the Aptos Transmission Main Relocation Project. Under this 
Agreement, the SWRCB has agreed to loan the District a total of $16,725,699. As of June 30, 2016, the District 
has received a total of $11,981,910 in loan disbursements pursuant to this Agreement. Pursuant to the 
Agreement, the interest rate is 2.5% and the District has begun making payments to repay the loan in the 
2013/2014 fiscal year. 

D. Legal Debt Limit 

The County’s legal annual debt service limit as of June 30, 2016, is $503,700,654. The County’s legal debt 
service limit is 1.25% of the total full cash valuation of all real and personal property within the County. 
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NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

E. Arbitrage 

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 instituted certain arbitrage restrictions with respect to the issuance of tax-exempt 
bonds after August 31, 1986.  Arbitrage regulations deal with the investment of all tax-exempt bond proceeds 
at an interest yield greater than the interest yield paid to bondholders.  Generally, all interest paid to bondholders 
can be retroactively rendered taxable if applicable rebates are not reported and paid to the Internal Revenue 
Service at least every five years.  The County has hired a consultant to perform calculations of excess 
investment earnings on various bonds and financings, and it is anticipated that the County will be determined 
to be in compliance with arbitrage regulations. 

F. Prior Period Adjustment 

$7,039,138 of the 2014 Lease Revenue Bond was used for County Disposal Sites CSA 9C and is expected to 
be repaid from fund resources. This amount was erroneously reported in the Financing Authorities Fund in 
prior years. The Long-Term Debt Note was changed to include the 2014 Lease Revenue Bond in both 
Governmental and Business-Type Activities. Prior period adjustments were recorded to properly report the 
debt on the Statement of Net Position for County Disposal Sites CSA 9C.  See note 21 for more details.  

NOTE 11 - PLEDGE OF FUTURE REVENUES 

2014 Lease Revenue Bonds 

The bonds are payable from and secured by a pledge of revenues and certain funds and accounts established 
and held by the Trustee under the Indenture. Revenues, as defined in the Indenture, means (i) all lease 
payments and other amounts paid, or caused to be paid, by the County, and received by the Financing Authority 
pursuant to the Lease Agreement (but not additional payments), and (ii) all interest or other income from any 
investment of any money in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture (other than the Rebate 
Fund) to repay $11,810,000 in lease revenue bonds issued during April 2014. Proceeds from the bonds 
provided funds to finance capital improvements, including the County’s new financial management system 
software and an additional module at the County’s Buena Vista sanitary landfill, to fund capitalized interest for 
a portion of the bonds, to satisfy the Reserve Requirement for the bonds and to pay the costs of issuance of 
the bonds. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds continue through 2034. Total principal and 
interest paid for the current year were $871,463. 

2012A Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds 

The revenues of the Santa Cruz Regional 911 (Regional 911) were pledged to repay $3,965,000 in lease 
revenue refunding bonds issued in May 2012. The Regional 911 was formed in a Joint Powers Authority 
Agreement with the cities of Santa Cruz, Watsonville, and Capitola, and the County. Proceeds from the bonds 
provided funds to refinance an existing lease and to fund equipment purchases. The bonds were payable from 
use payments paid to the Regional 911 by the different governmental agencies. Annual principal and interest 
payments on the bonds continue through 2034 and are expected to require less than 12 percent of revenues. 
The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $5,146,263. Pursuant to the Joint Powers 
Authority Agreement, the County is responsible for 47.53% of the total liability, or $2,446,019.  Total principal 
and interest paid for the current year and total customer revenues were $286,419 and $6,481,656 respectively. 
The County paid $136,135 of the current year principal and interest.  The Bonds were refunded on May 15, 
2012. 
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NOTE 12 - LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE COSTS 

The County operates the Buena Vista Landfill for the disposal of municipal waste and a transfer station at 
the site of the closed Ben Lomond Landfill. State and Federal laws and regulations, including the California 
Integrated Waste Management Board Title 14, California State Water Resources Control Board Title 23, 
and the Environmental Protection Agency Subtitle D of the Codified Federal Regulations 40, require the 
County to place a final cover on its landfill sites when it stops accepting waste and to perform certain 
maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 30 years after closure.  Although closure and 
postclosure care costs will be paid only near or after the date that landfills stop accepting waste, the County 
reports a portion of these closure and postclosure care costs as an operating expense in each period based 
on the County landfill’s capacity used as of June 30 of each year. 

As of June 30, 2016, a liability for closure and postclosure maintenance in the amount of $6,098,309 is reflected 
in the County Disposal Sites CSA 9C Enterprise Fund based upon landfill capacity used to date.  As of June 
30, 2016, Ben Lomond Landfill was filled to 100% capacity, and the County estimates that the Buena Vista 
Landfill is filled to 62.65% of capacity with an estimated remaining useful life of 25 years.  The Ben 
Lomond Landfill was closed during 1989 and the closure and postclosure care costs have been fully paid.  
The County will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure and postclosure maintenance of 
$3,635,159 as the remaining estimated capacity is filled.  These amounts are based on what it would cost to 
perform all closure and postclosure care in 2016.  Actual cost may be higher due to inflation, changes in 
technology, or changes in regulations.  The estimates will also be adjusted annually for inflation or deflation, in 
accordance with State guidelines. 

The County is required by State and Federal laws and regulations to make annual contributions to a fund to 
finance closure and postclosure maintenance.  The County is in compliance with these requirements, and at 
June 30, 2016, cash of $6,231,289 is held for this purpose, reported as restricted assets on the Statement of 
Net Position.  The County expects that future inflation costs will be paid from interest earnings on these annual 
contributions.  However, if interest earnings are inadequate or additional postclosure care requirements are 
determined (due to changes in technology or applicable laws and regulations, for example), these costs may 
need to be covered by charges to future landfill users. 

Postclosure maintenance for both the Buena Vista and closed Ben Lomond Landfills are provided for through 
a “Pledge of Revenue.”  The Board adopted resolutions pledging future County Disposal Sites CSA 9C Fund’s 
revenues annually through the prescribed postclosure maintenance period.  An initial postclosure cost was 
estimated at the time of adoption of the Pledge of Revenue resolutions and is adjusted for inflation on an 
annual basis. 

NOTE 13 - DEFICIT NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES 

Individual proprietary fund deficit net position at June 30, 2016, were as follows: 

Internal Service Funds: 
Information Services   $2,781,036 
Public Works $25,412,533 
Risk Management      $495,371 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance $20,215,512 

The deficit net positions in the Information Services Fund, Public Works Fund, Risk Management Fund, and 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund are due primarily to the reporting of the net pension liability pursuant 
to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68.  The County is committed to fully funding the actuarially 
determined contributions annually. 



95 

NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS 

A. General Information about the Pension Plans 

Plan Descriptions – All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the 
County’s separate Miscellaneous (all other), Safety (police and fire), and Safety Sheriff Plans, through agent 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans administered by CalPERS, which acts as a common 
investment and administrative agent for its participating member employers.  Benefit provisions under the Plans 
are established by State statute and County resolution.  CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include 
a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions, and membership information 
that can be found on the CalPERS website.  

CalPERS GASB Statement No. 68 Accounting Valuation Report differs from the amounts recognized by the 
County due to a Plan participants that are not part of the County. The amounts have been reduced based on 
payments within the Measurement Period of July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015. 

Benefits Provided – CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living 
adjustments, and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries.  Benefits 
are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment.  All members are eligible for 
non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service.  The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit.  The cost of living adjustments 
for each plan are applied as specified by the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law. 

The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2016, are summarized as follows: 
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued)       

A. General Information about the Pension Plan, (Continued) 

*Reciprocal: Any employee who starts working for the County of Santa Cruz within six months of separating
from another public agency in California that is either in the CalPERS retirement system or another public 
retirement system that has reciprocity with CalPERS, so long as the employee began employment with that 
agency prior to January 1, 2014. 

Employees Covered – At June 30, 2015, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms for each 
Plan: 
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

A. General Information about the Pension Plan, (Continued) 

Contributions – Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall 
be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total plan contributions are determined 
through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount 
necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to 
finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer is required to contribute the difference between the 
actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. Employer contribution rates may change if 
plan contracts are amended. It is the responsibility of the employer to make necessary accounting adjustments 
to reflect the impact due to any Employer-Paid Member Contributions or situations where members are paying 
a portion of the employer contribution. 

B. Net Pension Liability 

The County’s net pension liability for each Plan is measured as the total pension liability, less the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position.  The net pension liability of each of the Plans is measured as of June 30, 2015, using an 
annual actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2014, rolled forward to June 30, 2015, using standard update 
procedures. A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine the net pension liability is 
shown below. 

Actuarial Assumptions – The June 30, 2014 valuation was rolled forward to determine the June 30, 2015 total 
pension liability, based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2014 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from 1997 to 2011, including updates to salary increase, mortality and retirement 
rates. The Experience Study report can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under Forms and Publications. 
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

B. Net Pension Liability (Continued) 

Change of Assumptions – GASB Statement No. 68, paragraph 68 states that the long-term expected rate of 
return should be determined net of pension plan investment expense but without reduction for pension plan 
administrative expense. The discount rate of 7.50 percent used for the June 30, 2014 measurement date was 
net of administrative expenses. The discount rate of 7.65 percent used for the June 30, 2015 measurement 
date is without reduction of the Plans administrative expense. 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.65% for each Plan.  To 
determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for each plan, 
CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different from the 
actuarially assumed discount rate.  Based on the testing of the Plans, the tests revealed the assets would not 
run out.  Therefore, the current 7.65% discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate 
calculation is not necessary.  The long-term expected discount rate of 7.65% will be applied to all plans in the 
Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF).  The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called 
“GASB Crossover Testing Report” that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under the GASB Statement No. 
68 section.) 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-term 
market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund (Public Employees’ Retirement Fund) cash 
flows.  Such cash flows were developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required 
contributions on time and as scheduled in all future years.  Using historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, 
expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term 
(11-60 years) using a building-block approach.  Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and 
long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund.  The expected rate of return was set by 
calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash 
flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns.  The expected rate of return was then 
set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of 
one percent. 

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class.  The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation. 
The target allocation shown was adopted by the CalPERS Board effective on July, 1, 2014.   
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

B. Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

The changes in the Net Pension Liability for each Plan follow: 
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

B. Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents the net 
pension liability of the County for each Plan, calculated using the discount rate for each Plan, as well as what 
the County’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower (6.65 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.65 percent) than the current rate: 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – The plan fiduciary net position disclosed in the County’s CalPERS 
GASB Statement No. 68 accounting valuation report may differ from the plan assets reported in the County’s 
CalPERS funding actuarial valuation report due to several reasons. First, for the accounting valuations, 
CalPERS must keep items such as deficiency reserves, fiduciary self-insurance and OPEB expense included 
as assets. These amounts are excluded for rate setting purposes in the County’s funding actuarial valuation. In 
addition, differences may result from early Comprehensive Annual Financial Report closing and final reconciled 
reserves. 
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NOTE 14 - PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

C. Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

For the year ended June 30, 2016, the County recognized a pension expense of $17,629,915.  At June 30, 
2016, the County’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from 
the following sources: 

$33,847,462 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2017. 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

D. Payable to the Pension Plans 

At June 30, 2016, there is no outstanding amount of contributions payable to the Plans required for the year 
ending June 30, 2016. 
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NOTE 15 - POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS 

Plan Description.  Employees of the County who retire through CalPERS, their spouse, and eligible 
dependents may receive health plan coverage through the Public Employees’ Medical & Hospital Care Program 
Plan (Plan).  The Plan is a defined benefit plan which provides the retirees a monthly medical contribution that 
is not to exceed the cost of the plan selected.  The cost of the Plan to the County for each bargaining group will 
be determined through CalPERS’ regulations and requirements. For the Physicians Bargaining Unit, the County 
contributes fixed dollar amounts that vary by coverage [($327.21 (single) and $388.41 (for one or more 
dependents)]. For other bargaining units, the County contributions are based on longevity schedules with fixed 
dollar scaling that varies by bargaining unit. The Plan does not issue a financial report. 

Eligibility.  All of the County’s employees became participants in accordance with the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) as negotiated by each group or bargaining unit.  In order to receive benefits, eligible 
employees must meet the minimum requirements defined in their MOU.  

The Plan is eligible to plan members who retire directly from the County through CalPERS at age 50 with at 
least 5 years of service.   

The numbers of participants in the Plan are as follows: 

Funding Policy. The contribution requirements for the County are established by a Memorandum of 
Understanding as negotiated by each group or bargaining unit.  The required contribution is based on projected 
pay-as-you-go financing requirements.  For fiscal year 2016, the County contributed $6,477,103 to the Plan, 
$1,331,000 of which is the implicit subsidy.         

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation.  The County’s Annual Other Post-Employment Benefits 
(OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the Annual Required Contribution of the Employer (ARC), an 
amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45.  The ARC 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and 
amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excesses) over a period not to exceed thirty years.  The 
following table shows the components of the County’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually 
contributed to the plan, and changes in the County’s net OPEB obligation to the Plan: 



103 

NOTE 15 - POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued) 

The County’s annual OPEB costs, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the Plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for 2016 is as follows: 

Funded Status and Funding Progress.  As of January 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the 
Plan was zero percent funded.  The Actuarial Accrued Liability for benefits was $167,095,000 and the actuarial 
value of assets was $0, resulting in an Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) of $167,095,000.  The 
covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the Plan) was $167,418,000 and the ratio of 
UAAL to the covered payroll was 99.8%.   

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend rate.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of 
the Plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results 
are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  The schedule of funding 
progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents trend information about whether the actuarial value of Plan assets is increasing or decreasing over 
time relative to the Actuarial Accrued Liabilities for benefits. 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on 
the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of 
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the 
employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques 
that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial 
value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  Actuarial assumptions involve 
estimates and assumptions that extend far into the future.  These assumptions are subject to future revisions 
as new facts become known. 

In the January 1, 2016, actuarial valuation, the entry age actuarial cost method was used.  The actuarial 
assumptions include a 4% investment rate of return which is based on the expected return on funds invested in 
County investments, and an annual healthcare cost trend of actual premiums initially and reduced to an ultimate 
rate of 5% thereafter.  The actuarial assumption for inflation was 3%, and the aggregate payroll increases were 
3.25%.  The UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on a closed basis.  The remaining 
amortization as of June 30, 2016, was 24 years. 
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NOTE 15 - POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued) 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

The table below shows the analysis of the actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial accrual 
liability and the UAAL as a percentage of the annual covered payroll as of June 30, 2016.  The schedule of 
funding progress presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of Plan assets is increasing 
or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

NOTE 16 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

The County offers all of its full-time employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code.  The deferred compensation plan permits employees to defer a 
portion of their salary until future years.  The deferred compensation is not available to employees until 
termination, retirement, death, or emergency.  Employees direct the investment of deferred compensation plan 
assets into certificates of deposits and various mutual funds.  The County has insignificant administrative 
duties. 

As of June 30, 2016, the deferred compensation plan’s assets of $149,160,642 are not recorded in the 
County’s financial statements as they are deposited with a third party administrator independent of the County. 

NOTE 17 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

A. Contracts 

As of June 30, 2016, the County has construction contract commitments in the Department of Public Works (all 
funds types) and in Special Revenue and Capital Projects Funds in the amount of $3,526,284 and $25,620,481, 
respectively. 

B. Litigation 

There are several lawsuits and unresolved disputes involving the County or its employees in which the County 
is represented by the County Counsel.  However, in the opinion of the County Counsel these actions will not, 
in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect upon the operations or financial position of the County. 

C. Federal and State Grants 

The County participates in a number of Federal and State grant programs subject to financial and compliance 
audits by the grantors or their representatives.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed 
by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time.  However, management does not believe that audit 
disallowances, if any, would have a significant effect on the financial position of the County. 
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NOTE 17 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 

D. Medicare and Medi-Cal Reimbursements 

The County’s Medicare and Medi-Cal cost reports for certain prior years are in various stages of review by the 
third-party intermediaries and have not been settled as a result of certain unresolved reimbursement issues. 
The County believes that it has adequately provided for any potential liabilities that may arise from the 
intermediaries’ review. 

NOTE 18 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets, 
errors and omissions, injuries to employees, natural disasters, medical malpractice, unemployment coverage, 
and dental benefits to employees.  The County is self-insured for its general and auto liability, workers’ 
compensation, property, and employees’ dental coverage.  The County has chosen to establish risk-financing 
internal service funds, where assets are set aside for claim settlements associated with the above risk of loss 
up to certain limits.  Excess coverage is provided by the California State Association of Counties (CSAC) Excess 
Insurance Authority (Insurance Authority), a joint powers authority whose purpose is to develop and fund 
programs of excess insurance for its member counties.  The Insurance Authority is governed by a Board of 
Directors consisting of representatives of the member counties.  Self-insurance limits per occurrence and 
Insurance Authority limits per year are as presented in the Statistical Section of this report. 

Amounts in excess of these limits are self-insured.  None of the insurance settlements over the past three years 
has exceeded the amount of insurance coverage.  As of June 30, 2016, the workers’ compensation liability limit 
per occurrence was $500,000. 

The unpaid claims liability included in each of the Self-Insurance Internal Service Funds are based on the results 
of actuarial studies and include amounts for claims incurred but not reported.  Claim liabilities are calculated 
considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends, including frequency and amount of payouts, 
and other economic and social factors.  It is the County’s practice to obtain full actuarial studies bi-annually.  
Annual premiums are charged by each Self-Insurance fund using various allocation methods which include 
actual costs, claims experience, and number of participants. 
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NOTE 18 - RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

The change in the balance of claims liabilities during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, and two prior years 
for all Self-Insurance Internal Service Funds combined is as follows:      

At June 30, 2016, the Self-Insurance Funds held a total of $28,498,722 in cash for the payment of these claims. 

A. Workers’ Compensation 

The Workers’ Compensation self-insurance program is funded on a cash flow plus contingency reserve basis. 
The County is liable for the first $500,000 and carries catastrophic insurance coverage.  At June 30, 2016, the 
estimated future liabilities were $32,973,000.  As permitted by State and Federal guidelines, the Workers’ 
Compensation program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis.  The funding is closely monitored to ensure that 
claims are paid when due or required by law. 

B. Dental and Medical 

The County provides a self-funded indemnity dental program for employees and their dependents and is funded 
by the various County departments through charges to their salary and benefits budgets.  At June 30, 2016, 
the County had an estimated future liability of $406,120 for dental benefits.  The County is fully insured for its 
alternative capitation dental program and for medical coverage for employees represented by Operating 
Engineers Union Local 3. 

C. Liability and Property 

The County has a self-insured retention of $1 million with excess insurance coverage for the general liability 
program.  At June 30, 2016, the County had estimated future liabilities totaling $5,563,000 which included 
estimates for known claims and losses incurred but not reported (IBNR).  

D. Unemployment Insurance 

The Unemployment Insurance self-insurance program is considered a “reimbursable” program by the 
Employment Development Department (EDD), since EDD provides benefits and bills the County quarterly after 
the fact.  As billings are always one quarter in arrears, the estimated future liabilities are based on 25% of the 
amount budgeted for the new fiscal year. At June 30, 2016, estimated future liabilities were $62,008. 
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NOTE 19 - FUND BALANCES 

Fund balances are presented in the following categories: nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and 
unassigned (see Note 1 for a description of these categories). A detailed schedule of fund balances at June 30, 
2016, is as follows:  

NOTE 20 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On July 6, 2016, the Santa Cruz County Redevelopment Successor Agency issued Tax Allocation Refunding 
Bonds, 2016 Series A in the amount of $49,200,000. The 2016 Series A Refunding Bonds bear interest at 
rates ranging from 2.00% to 5.00%, maturing on September 1, 2036.  The 2016 Series A Refunding Bonds 
were issued to refund on an advance basis the former County of Santa Cruz Redevelopment Agency’s Tax 
Allocation Bonds, 2009 Series A, to satisfy the Reserve Requirement for the 2016 Series A Refunding Bonds 
and to pay the costs of issuing the 2016 Series A Refunding Bonds.   

On July 19, 2016, the County issued 2016 Refunding Certificates of Participation (COP) in the amount of 
$10,500,000.  The 2016 Refunding COP bears interest at rates ranging from 2.00% to 4.00%, maturing on 
August 1, 2036.  The 2016 Refunding COP was issued to refinance certain outstanding lease obligations of 
the County and to prepay on a current basis the County’s outstanding 2002 Refunding COP, 2005 Refunding 
COP and 2006 COP, to finance a variety of capital improvements, to satisfy the Reserve Requirement for the 
2016 Refunding COP and to pay the delivery costs of the 2016 Refunding COP.   
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NOTE 21 - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

A prior period adjustment of $5,877,304 was made to increase the governmental activities’ beginning net 
position. $6,002,514 of the adjustment was made to reflect the realignment of long term liabilities related to 
County Disposal Sites CSA 9C. $647,635 of the adjustment was related to writing off capital assets no long 
consistent with the county’s capital assets threshold. ($772,845) of the adjustment was for a principal 
payment to Loans Receivable in the Housing Fund that was erroneously charged to revenues in the prior 
year.    

The restatement of beginning net position of the governmental activities is summarized as follows: 

A prior period adjustment of $6,002,514 was made to decrease the business‐type activities’ beginning net 
position. The adjustment was made to reflect the portion of realigned long term liabilities related to County 
Disposal Sites CSA 9C that was previously reported as income. 

The restatement of beginning net position of the business‐type activities’ is summarized as follows: 

A prior period adjustment of $970,474 was made to decrease the component unit activities’ beginning net 
position. The adjustment was made relating to a fiscal year 2015 4th quarter invoice that was not properly 
accrued in the 2015 financial statements. 

The restatement of beginning net position of the component unit is summarized as follows: 
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  REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL 
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
BUDGETARY PRINCIPLES 

General Budget Policies 

In accordance with Chapter 1, Division 3, Title 3, of the Government Code of the State of California, known as the 
“Budget Act,” the County of Santa Cruz (County) prepares and adopts a budget for each fiscal year.  The budget is a 
compilation of operating budgets from: individual functional units within the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, 
Capital Projects Fund, and Proprietary Funds (operating plans). Budgets are adopted for all funds except for Debt 
Service Funds and certain Special Revenue Funds, namely, the Financing Authorities, Health Services, and Geological 
Hazard Abatement Districts. 

The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 

1. On or before June 10, each official in charge of a budget provides the County Administrative Officer an
itemized request detailing the estimate of financing sources, financing uses, and any other matters required
by the Board of Supervisors (Board). The auditor provides the estimates for bonded debt service requirements.

2. Prior to July 1, the County Administrative Officer submits to the Board a recommended budget for the fiscal
year commencing the following July 1. By formal action, the Board approves the recommended budget,
including the revisions it deems necessary.

3. On or before September 8, the Board publishes a notice in a newspaper of general circulation stating that
the recommended budget documents are available to the public, and the dates of the public hearings at which
any member of the public may attend and be heard on any item in the recommended budget.

4. On or before October 2, public hearings are conducted to obtain public comments, and the budget is
legally adopted through the passage of a resolution. The public hearings shall be concluded within 14
calendar days.

5. On or before December 1, the Auditor-Controller publishes a final budget as recommended by the County
Administrative Officer and adopted by the Board, in a format prescribed by the State Controller.

6. Budget units are expenditure classifications which identify accounting or cost centers necessary or desirable
for control of the County financial operation.

7. The County uses formal budgetary integration as a management control device during the year for the primary
government and all blended component units, except the Financing Authorities and certain Special Revenue
Funds, which do not annually adopt a budget.

8. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAP) except for the following different classifications:

• Interfund transfers are reported as revenues or expenditures for budgetary purposes, however, for GAAP
purposes are reported as other financing sources or uses.

• Proceeds from the sale of assets and the issuance of new debt are reported as revenues for budgetary
purposes, however, for GAAP purposes they are reported as other financing sources.
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BUDGETARY PRINCIPLES (Continued) 

General Budget Policies (Continued) 

9. Budgetary control is maintained at the character level, except for capital assets and other charges which are
controlled by line item. Character levels are appropriation totals for salaries and employee benefits, and
services and supplies. The Board approves all transfers of budgeted appropriation amounts between budget
units within any fund or between expenditures outside of budgetary control limits. Unencumbered appropriations
at year-end lapse into fund balance. See the following paragraph for encumbered appropriations at year-end.

The Board made several supplementary budgetary appropriations throughout the year, primarily to the Special 
Revenue and Capital Projects Funds. Other supplemental budgetary appropriations in other funds were not 
considered material. 

Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure of 
monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of 
formal budgetary accounting in the General and Special Revenue Funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are 
reported as commitments of fund balance since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. Encumbrances at 
year-end are re-budgeted in the new year. 
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
AN AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2016 

LAST 10 YEARS* 

* Fiscal year 2015-16 was the 2nd year of implementation; therefore, only two years are shown.

Notes to Schedule: 

Benefit changes.  The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan 
changes which occurred after the June 30, 2014 valuation date. 

Changes in assumptions.  The discount rate was changed in Measurement Period 2014-15 from 7.5 percent 
(net of administrative expense) to 7.65 percent. 
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ 
AN AGENT MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2016 

LAST 10 YEARS* 

*Fiscal year 2015-16 was the 2nd year of implementation; therefore, only two years are shown.

Notes to Schedule: 

Valuation date: June 30, 2012 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry age normal 
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll 
Remaining amortization period Varies 27 to 32 years as of the Valuation Date 

depending on the Plan 
Asset valuation method 15-year smoothed market 
Inflation 2.75% 
Salary increases Varies by Entry Age and Service 
Payroll Growth 3.00% 
Investment rate of return 7.50%, net of pension plan investment expense, 

including inflation 
Retirement age The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2010 

CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 1997 
to 2007.  

Mortality The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2010 
CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 1997 
to 2007. Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality 
rates include 5 years of projected mortality 
improvement using Scale AA published by the 
Society of Actuaries.  
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COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ  
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS  

The table below shows a three-year analysis of the actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial 
accrual liability and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability as a percentage of the annual covered payroll as 
of January 1 of each year indicated.  

* Most recent information available.
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SUMMARY OF NONMAJOR 
GOVERNMENTAL FUND 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Special Revenue Funds – The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of special 
revenue sources which are legally restricted to expenditures for specific purposes.
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NONMAJOR 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

Special Revenue Funds: 

Library Fund – The Library Fund finances library services in the unincorporated area of the County 
through contracts with the cities of Santa Cruz and Watsonville. Revenue is collected from property taxes 
in the unincorporated area of the County and from the cities of Scotts Valley and Capitola and is 
dedicated to the Santa Cruz County Library Joint Powers Authority for library operations. 

Fire Fund – The Fire Fund provides support for coordinating fire protection and prevention activities with 
local fire protection agencies, County departments, and advisory bodies. Revenues consist of taxes and 
charges for services. 

Off Highway, Road, and Transportation Fund – The Off Highway, Road, and Transportation Fund 
provides for the construction and maintenance of County roads, along with  transportation planning 
activities. Revenues consist primarily of State and Federal grants, State taxes, and a State subvention 
from vehicle license fees. 

Financing Authorities – The Financing Authorities are legal entities separate from the County, although 
they are not reported as component units of the County. The Financing Authorities facilitate financing for 
the County and the County of Santa Cruz Redevelopment Successor Agency. 

Fish and Game Fund – The Fish and Game Fund provides for expenditures, which are used for the 
protection and propagation of fish and game. Revenues are from the County’s share of fines collected for 
violations of fish and game laws. 

Park Dedication and State Park Bonds Fund – The Park Dedication and State Park Bonds Fund 
finances park land acquisition and park development. Revenues come from development impact fees 
charged on new residential development and major residential remodeling. 

Health Services Fund – The Health Services Fund provides for future purchases of health facilities. 

Santa Cruz Flood Control and Water Conservation Zone 7 – The Santa Cruz Flood Control and Water 
Conservation Zone 7 Fund supports a special purpose district fund administered by the Department of 
Public Works. It is governed by an independent Board of Directors. Revenues consist largely of service 
charges. 

Districts Governed by the Board of Supervisors: Public Protection, Health and Sanitation, 
Recreation and Culture Services, and Public Ways and Facilities Funds – The Public Protection, 
Health and Sanitation, Recreation and Culture Services, and Public Ways and Facilities Funds support a 
number of special purpose district funds administered by the Department of Public Works. Revenues 
consist of tax levies and service charges. 

Districts Governed by the Board of Supervisors: Geologic Hazard Abatement Districts Fund – The 
Geologic Hazard Abatement Districts Fund provides for financing and maintaining improvements 
necessary or incidental to the prevention, mitigation, abatement, or control of geologic hazards. 
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NONMAJOR 
ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

Boulder Creek CSA 7, Rolling Woods CSA 10, Place de Mer CSA 2, Sand Dollar Beach CSA 5, 
Trestle Beach CSA 20, Summit West CSA 54, and Graham Hill CSA 57 – These County Service 
Areas provide sewage collection, treatment, and disposal services to residents within each district’s area. 
User fees are the principal source of revenue. 

Septic Tank Maintenance CSA 12 – This County Service Area provides maintenance for septic tanks in 
unincorporated areas of the County. User fees are the principal source of revenue. 

Freedom County Sanitation District – This district provides sewage collection, treatment, and disposal 
services for the residents of the Freedom area. User fees are the principal source of revenue. 

Davenport Sanitation District – This district provides sewage collection, treatment, and disposal services 
as well as the supplying and treatment of water to Davenport, Newtown, and San Vicente. User fees and 
contributions from the principal commercial customer are the principal sources of revenue. 
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the·financing of goods or services provided by one 
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other government 
units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 

Central Duplicating Fund – The Central Duplicating Fund accounts for the County print shop, copy 
center, and mail room. 

Information Services Fund – The Information Services Fund accounts for data processing and 
telecommunications services provided to County departments. 

Public Works Fund – The Public Works Fund accounts for such County functions as construction 
and maintenance of the County road system and management of certain special districts and other 
related activities. 

Service Center Fund – The Service Center Fund accounts for the maintenance of the County fleet of 
vehicles and for related services to other County departments. 

Self-Insurance Funds – The Self-Insurance Funds account for the County’s self-insured risk 
management, dental and health insurance, liability and property insurance, workers’ compensation 
insurance, employee benefit staffing, and State unemployment insurance program. 
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

Agency Funds – Agency Funds are used to account for the receipt and disbursement of various taxes, 
deposits, deductions, and property collected by the County,  acting  in  the capacity  of  an  agent  for 
distribution to other governmental entities or other organizations. 

Intergovernmental Agency Funds – Intergovernmental Agency Funds are used to account for 
deposits which are under the control of various single county officers. Disbursements are made from 
these funds by the Auditor-Controller based on a properly written authorization from the responsible 
officer. 

Payroll Funds – The Payroll Funds are used to account for various employee payroll deductions, tax 
withholdings, and employer contributions for fringe benefits. 

Property Tax Collections Funds – The Property Tax Collections Funds are used to account for the 
collection and distribution of property taxes and interest on bank deposits of other local governmental 
agencies. 

Private Purpose Trust Fund – The Private Purpose Trust Fund reports resources of all other trust 
arrangements in which principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other 
governments. This fund is used to report the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources, and activities of the County of Santa Cruz Redevelopment Successor Agency. 
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STATISTICAL SECTION 

(UNAUDITED) 
This part of the County of Santa Cruz’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a 
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required 
supplementary information says about the County’s overall financial health. 

Contents Page 

Financial Trends 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the County’s 
financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 180-184 

Revenue Capacity 
These  schedules  contain  information  to  help  the  reader  assess  the  County’s  most 
significant local revenue source, the property tax. 185-188 

Debt Capacity 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the County’s 
current level of outstanding debt and the County’s ability to issue additional debt 
in the future. 189-192 

Demographic and Economic Information 
These  schedules  offer  demographic  and  economic  indicators  to  help  the  reader 
understand the environment within which the County’s financial activities take place. 193-197 

Operating Information 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the County’s financial report relates to the services the County provides 
and the activities it performs. 198-202 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant 
year. 
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GLOSSARY 
(UNAUDITED) 



204 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE. A short-term liability account reflecting amounts owed to private persons or 
organizations for goods and services received by a government. 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE. An asset account reflecting amounts due from private persons or 
organizations for goods and services furnished by a government (but not including amounts due from 
other funds or other governments). 

ACCRUAL BASIS. The recording of the financial effects on a government of transactions and other 
events and circumstances that have cash consequences for the government in the periods in which those 
transactions, events, and circumstances occur, rather than only in the periods in which cash is received 
or paid by the government. 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION. A contra-asset account used to report the accumulation of periodic 
credits to reflect the expiration of the estimated service life of capital assets. 

ADVANCE FROM OTHER FUNDS. A liability account used to record noncurrent portions of a long-term 
debt owed by one fund to another fund within the same reporting entity. See DUE TO OTHER FUNDS 
and INTERFUND RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE. 

ADVANCE TO OTHER FUNDS. An asset account used to record noncurrent portions of a long-term loan 
from one fund to another fund within the same reporting entity. See DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS. 

AGENCY FUND. A fund normally used to account for assets held by a government as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, or other governments and/or other funds. 

AMORTIZATION. (1) The portion of the cost of a limited-life or intangible asset charged as an expense 
during a particular period. (2) The reduction of debt by regular payments of principal and interest sufficient 
to retire the debt by maturity. 

APPROPRIATION. A legal authorization granted by a legislative body to make expenditures and to incur 
obligations for specific purposes. An appropriation usually is limited in amount and time it may be 
expended. 

ASSESSED VALUATION. A valuation set upon real estate or other property by a government as a basis 
for levying taxes. 

ASSIGNED FUND BALANCE. Amounts that are constrained by the County’s intent to be used for 
specific purposes. The intent can be established at either the highest level of decision-making authority or 
by a body or an official designated for that purpose. This is also the classification for residual funds in the 
County’s special revenue funds. 

AUDITOR’S REPORT. In the context of a financial audit, a statement by the auditor describing the scope 
of the audit and the auditing standards applied in the examination, and setting forth the auditor’s opinion 
on the fairness of presentation of the financial information in conformity with GAAP or some other 
comprehensive basis of accounting. 

BALANCE SHEET. The financial statement disclosing the assets, liabilities, and equity of an entity at a 
specified date in conformity with GAAP. 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BFS). The minimum combination of financial statements and note 
disclosures required for fair presentation in conformity with GAAP. Basic financial statements have three 
components: government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial 
statements. 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING. A term used to refer to when revenues, expenditures, expenses,  and transfers 
and the related assets and liabilities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial 
statements. Specifically, it relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the nature of 
the measurement, on either the cash or the accrual basis. 
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BUDGET. A plan of financial operation embodying an estimate of proposed expenditures for a given 
period and the proposed means of financing them. Used without any modifier, the term usually indicates a 
financial plan for a single fiscal year. The term “budget” is used in two senses in practice. Sometimes it 
designates the financial plan presented to the appropriating governing body for adoption, and sometimes, 
the plan finally approved by that body. 

BUDGETARY CONTROL. The control or management of a government or enterprise in accordance with 
an approved budget to keep expenditures within the limitations of available appropriations and available 
revenues. 

CAPITAL ASSETS. Long-lived tangible assets obtained or controlled as a result of past transactions, 
events or circumstances. Capital assets include buildings, equipment, improvements other than buildings, 
land and infrastructure. In the private sector, these assets are referred to most often as property, plant, 
and equipment. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES. Expenditures resulting in the acquisition of or addition to the government’s 
general capital assets. 

CAPITALIZATION POLICY. The criteria used by a government to determine which outlays should be 
reported as capital assets. 

CAPITAL LEASE. An agreement that conveys the right to use property, plant, or equipment, usually for a 
stated period of time. See LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENTS. 

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND. A fund created to account for financial resources to be used for the 
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds and 
trust funds). 

CASH BASIS. A basis of accounting under which transactions are recognized only when cash is received 
or disbursed. 

CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT. An asset account reflecting deposits with fiscal agents, such as 
commercial banks, for the payment of bond principal and interest 

CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING PROGRAM. A 
voluntary program administered by the GFOA to encourage governments to publish efficiently organized 
and easily readable CAFRs and to provide technical assistance and peer recognition to the finance 
officers preparing them. 

CHANGE IN THE FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS. The difference between the fair value of 
investments at the beginning of the year and at the end of the year, taking into consideration investment 
purchases, sales, and redemptions. 

COMMITTED FUND BALANCE. Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes determined by 
formal action of the County’s highest level of decision-making authority (the Board of Supervisors), and 
that remain binding unless removed in the same manner. The underlying action that imposed  the limitation 
needs to occur no later than the close of the reporting period. 

COMPENSATED ABSENCES. Absences, such as vacation and illness, for which it is expected 
employees will be paid. The term does not encompass severance or termination pay, postretirement 
benefits, deferred compensation, or other long-term fringe benefits, such as group insurance and long- 
term disability pay. 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT (CAFR). A financial report that encompasses all 
fund and component units of the government. The CAFR should contain (a) the basic financial statements 
and required supplementary information, (b) combining statements to support columns in the basic 
financial statements that aggregate information from more than one fund or component unit, and (c) 
individual fund statements as needed. The CAFR is the governmental unit’s official annual report and also 
should contain introductory information, schedules necessary to demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal and contractual provisions, and statistical data. 
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CONTINGENT LIABILITY. Items that may become liabilities as a result of conditions undetermined at a 
given date, such as guarantees, pending lawsuits, judgments under appeal, unsettled disputed claims, 
unfilled purchase orders and uncompleted contracts. Contingent liabilities should be disclosed within the 
financial statements (including the notes) when there is a reasonable possibility a loss may have been 
incurred. Guarantees, however, should be disclosed even though the possibility of loss may be remote. 

COST-SHARING MULTIPLE-EMPLOYER PLAN. A single plan with pooling (cost-sharing) arrangements 
for the participating employers. All risks, rewards, and costs, including benefit costs, are shared and are 
not attributed individually to the employers. A single actuarial valuation covers all plan members and the 
same contribution rate(s) applies for each employer. 

CURRENT FINANCIAL RESOURCES MEASUREMENT FOCUS. Measurement focus according  to which 
the aim of a set of financial statements is to report the near-term (current) inflows, outflows, and balances 
of expendable (spendable) financial resources. The current financial resources measurement focus is 
unique to accounting and financial reporting for State and local governments and is used solely for 
reporting the financial position and results of operations of governmental funds. 

DEBT. An obligation resulting from the borrowing of money or from the purchase of goods and services. 
Debts of governments include bonds, time warrants, and notes. 

DEBT SERVICE FUND. A fund established to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the 
payment of, general long-term debt principal and interest. 

DEFERRED CHARGES. Expenditures that are not chargeable to the fiscal period in which they were 
made but that are carried as an asset on the balance sheet, pending amortization or other disposition 
(e.g., bond issuance costs). Deferred charges differ from prepaid items in that they usually extend over a 
long period of time (more than five years) and are not regularly recurring costs of operation. 

DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES. The consumption or acquisition of net 
assets in one period that are applicable to future periods. 

DEFICIT. (1) The excess of the liabilities of a fund over its assets. (2) The excess of expenditures over 
revenues during an accounting period or, in the case of proprietary funds, the excess of expenses over 
revenues during an accounting period. 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN. A pension plan having terms that specify the amount of pension 
benefits to be provided at a future date or after a certain period of time; the amount specified usually is a 
function of one or more factors such as age, years of service, and compensation. 

DEPRECIATION. (1) Expiration in the service life of capital assets, other than wasting assets, attributable 
to wear and tear, deterioration, action of the physical elements, inadequacy, and obsolescence. (2) The 
portion of the cost of a capital asset, other than a wasting asset, charged as an expense during a 
particular period. In accounting for depreciation, the cost of a capital asset, less any salvage value, is 
prorated over the estimated service life of such an asset and each period is charged with a portion of 
such cost. Through this process, the entire cost of the asset is ultimately charged off as an expense. 

DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS. An asset account used to indicate amounts owed to a particular fund by 
another fund for goods sold or services rendered. This account includes only short-term obligations on 
open account, not interfund loans. 

DUE TO OTHER FUNDS. A liability account reflecting amounts owed by a particular fund to another fund 
for goods sold or services rendered. These amounts include only short-term obligations on open account, 
not interfund loans. 

ECONOMIC RESOURCES MEASUREMENT FOCUS. Measurement focus under which the aim of a set 
of financial statements is to report all inflows, outflows, and balances affecting or reflecting an entity’s net 
position. The economic resources measurement focus is used for proprietary and fiduciary funds, as well 
as for government-wide financial reporting. It is also used by business enterprises in the private sector. 
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ENCUMBRANCES. Commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services. 
Used in budgeting, encumbrances are not GAAP expenditures or liabilities, but represent the estimated 
amount of expenditures ultimately to result if unperformed contracts in process are completed. 

ENTERPRISE FUND. Proprietary fund type used to report an activity for which a fee is charged to 
external users for goods and services. 

EXPENDITURE-DRIVEN GRANTS. Government-mandated or voluntary nonexchange transactions in 
which expenditure is the prime factor for determining eligibility. Also referred to as reimbursement grants. 

EXCHANGE-LIKE TRANSACTION. Transaction in which there is an identifiable exchange between the 
reporting government and another party, but the values exchanged may not be quite equal or the direct 
benefits of the exchange may not be exclusively for the parties to the exchange. 

EXPENDITURES. Decreases in net financial resources. Expenditures include current operating expenses 
requiring the present or future use of net position, debt service and capital outlays, and intergovernmental 
grants, entitlement, and shared revenues. 

EXPENSES. Outflows or other using up of assets or incurrences of liabilities (or a combination of both) 
from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities that constitute the 
entity’s ongoing major or central operations. 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS. Independent auditors typically engaged to conduct an audit of a government’s 
financial statements. 

EXTERNAL INVESTMENT POOL. An arrangement that commingles (pools) the moneys of more than 
one legally separate entity and invests, on the participants’ behalf, in an investment portfolio; one or more 
of the participants is not part of the sponsors reporting entity. An external investment pool can be 
sponsored by an individual government, jointly by more than one government, or by a nongovernmental 
entity. An investment pool that is sponsored by an individual State or local government is an external 
investment pool if it includes participation by a legally separate entity that is not part of the same reporting 
entity as the sponsoring government. If a government-sponsored pool includes only the primary 
government and its component units, it is an internal investment pool and not an external investment 
pool. 

FAIR VALUE. The amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS. The trust and agency funds used to account for assets held by a government unit in 
a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other government units, and/or 
other funds. 

FINANCIAL RESOURCES. Resources that are or will become available for spending. Financial 
resources include cash and resources ordinarily expected to be converted to cash (e.g., receivables, 
investments). Financial resources may also include inventories and prepaids (because they obviate the 
need to expend current available resources). 

FISCAL AGENT. A fiduciary agency, usually a bank or county treasurer, who performs the function of 
paying debt principal and interest when due. 

FUND. A fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts in which cash and other 
financial resources, all related liabilities and residual equities, or balances, and changes therein, are 
recorded and segregated to carry on specific activities or attain certain objectives in accordance with 
special regulations, restrictions or limitations. 

FUND BALANCE. The difference between fund assets and fund liabilities of governmental and similar 
trust funds. 

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Basic financial statements presented on the basis of funds. Term 
used in contrast with government-wide financial statements. 
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FUND TYPE. Anyone of seven categories into which all funds are classified in governmental accounting. 
The seven fund types are: general, special revenue, debt service, capital projects, enterprise, internal 
service, and trust and agency. 

GENERAL REVENUES. All revenues that are not required to be reported as program revenues. All 
taxes, even those that are levied for a specific purpose, are general revenues and should be reported by 
type of tax – for example, property tax, sales tax, transient occupancy tax. All other nontax revenues 
(including interest, grants and contributions) that do not meet the criteria to be reported as program 
revenues should also be reported as general revenues. 

GENERAL FUND. The General Fund is one of five governmental fund types and typically serves as the 
chief operating fund of the government. The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (GAAP). The conventions, rules, and procedures 
that serve as the norm for the fair presentation of financial statements. The various sources of GAAP for 
State and local governments are set forth by Statements of Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 69, The Meaning 
of “Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report. 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING. The composite activity of analyzing, recording, summarizing, 
reporting, and interpreting the financial transactions of governments. 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (GASB). The ultimate authoritative accounting 
and financial reporting standard-setting body for State and local governments. The GASB was 
established in June 1984 to replace the National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA). 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS. Funds generally used to account for tax-supported activities. There are five 
different types of governmental funds: the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, 
capital projects funds, and permanent funds. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Financial statements that incorporate all of a 
government’s governmental and business-type activities, as well as its nonfiduciary component units. 
There are two basic government-wide financial statements: the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities. Both basic governmental financial statements are presented using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 

INFRASTRUCTURE. Long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and normally can be 
preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. Examples of infrastructure 
assets include roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer systems, dams, and lighting 
systems. 

INTERFUND RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE. Short-term loans made by one fund to another, or the current 
portion of an advance to or from another fund. 

INTERFUND TRANSFERS. Flow of assets (such as cash or goods) between funds and blended 
component units of the primary government without equivalent flows of assets in return and without a 
requirement for payment. 

INTERNAL SERVICE FUND. A fund used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by 
one department or agency to other departments or agencies of a government, or to other governments, 
on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

JOINT VENTURE. A legal entity or other contractual arrangement in which a government participates as 
a separate and specific activity for the benefit of the public or service recipients and in which the 
government retains an ongoing financial interest. 
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LAPSE. As applied to appropriations, the automatic termination of an appropriation. Except for 
indeterminate appropriations and continuing appropriations, an appropriation is made for a certain period 
of time. At the end of the period, any unexpended or unencumbered balance thereof lapses, unless 
otherwise provided by law. 

LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENTS. Contractual agreements that are termed leases, but that in 
substance are purchase contracts. 

LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL. The level at which spending in excess of budgeted 
amounts would be a violation of law. 

LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL. The level at which a government’s management may not reallocate 
resources without special approval from the legislative body. 

LIABILITIES. Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits, arising  from present  obligations  of  a 
particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past 
transactions or events. 

LOANS RECEIVABLE. An asset account reflecting amounts loaned to individuals or  organizations 
external to a government, including notes taken as security for such loans. Loans to other funds and 
governments should be recorded and reported separately. 

MAJOR FUND. A governmental fund or enterprise fund reported as a separate column in the basic fund 
financial statements. The General Fund is always a major fund. Otherwise, major funds are funds whose 
revenues/expenditures, assets, or liabilities are at least 10 percent of corresponding totals for all 
governmental or enterprise funds and at least 5 percent of the aggregate amount for all governmental and 
enterprise funds for the same item. Any other governmental or enterprise fund may be reported as a 
major fund if the government’s officials believe that fund is particularly important to financial statement 
users. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS. A component of required supplementary information 
used to introduce the basic financial statements and to provide an analytical overview of the entity’s 
financial activities. 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS. A way of presenting an entity’s financial performance and position by 
considering which resources are measured (financial or economic) and when the effects of transactions 
or events involving those resources are recognized (the basis of accounting). The measurement focus of 
government-wide financial statements, proprietary fund financial statements, and fiduciary fund financial 
statements is economic resources. The measurement focus of governmental fund financial statements is 
current financial resources. 

MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS. The accrual basis of accounting adapted to the governmental fund-type 
measurement focus. Under it, revenues and other financial resource increments (e.g., bond issue 
proceeds) are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual, that is when they become both 
“measurable” and “available to finance expenditures of the current period.” “Available” means collectible 
in the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. 
Generally, expenditures are recognized when the fund liability is incurred. All governmental funds, 
expendable trust funds, and agency funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. 

NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net 
of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds, mortgages, notes, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

NET POSITION. The residual of all other elements of the statement of financial position. In other words, 
the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources. 

NONSPENDABLE FUND BALANCE. Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (1) not 
spendable in form or (2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
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OTHER FINANCING SOURCES. An increase in current financial resources that is reported separately 
from revenues to avoid distorting revenue trends. The use of the other financing sources category is 
limited to items so classified by GAAP. 

 
OTHER FINANCING USES. A decrease in current financial resources that is reported separately from 
expenditures to avoid distorting expenditure trends. The use of other financing uses category is limited to 
items so classified by GAAP. 

 
OVERLAPPING DEBT. The proportionate share that property within each government must bear of the 
debts of all local governments located wholly or in part within the geographic boundaries of the reporting 
government. Except for special assessment debt, the amount of debt of each unit applicable to the 
reporting unit is arrived at by (1) determining what percentage of the total assessed value of the overlapping 
jurisdiction lies within the limits of the reporting unit, and (2) applying this percentage to the total debt of 
the overlapping jurisdiction. Special assessment debt is allocated on the basis of the ratio of assessment 
receivable in each jurisdiction, which will be used wholly or in part to pay off the debt, to total assessments 
receivable, which will be used wholly or in part for this purpose. 

 
PROGRAM REVENUES. Term used in connection with the government-wide statement of activities. 
Revenues that derive directly from the program itself or from parties outside the reporting government’s 
taxpayers or citizenry, as a whole; they reduce the net cost of the function to be financed from the 
government’s general revenues. 

 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS. Funds that focus on the determination of operating income, changes in net 
position (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. There are two different types of proprietary 
funds: enterprise funds and internal service funds. 

 
PRIVATE PURPOSE TRUST FUND. Trust fund used to report resources of other trust arrangements in 
which principal and income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments. 

 
REBATABLE ARBITRAGE. A term used in connection with the reinvestment of the proceeds of tax- 
exempt debt. A requirement to remit to the Federal government interest revenue in excess of interest 
costs when the proceeds from the sale of tax-exempt securities are reinvested in a taxable money market 
instrument with a materially higher yield. 

 
REPORTING ENTITY. The oversight unit and all of its component units, if any, that are combined in the 
CAFR/BFS. 

 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION. Consists of statements, schedules, statistical data, or 
other information which, according to the GASB, is necessary to supplement, although not required to be 
a part of the basic financial statements. 

 
RESERVED FUND BALANCE. The portion of a governmental fund’s net position that is not available for 
appropriation. 

 
RESTRICTED ASSETS. Assets whose use is subject to constraints that are either (1) externally imposed 
by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or (2) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
RESTRICTED FUND BALANCE. Amounts with constraints placed on their use that are either (1) externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
RESTRICTED NET POSITION. A component of net position calculated by reducing the carrying value of 
restricted assets by the amount of any related debt outstanding. 

 
REVENUE BONDS. Bonds whose principal and interest are payable exclusively from earnings of an 
enterprise fund. In addition to a pledge of revenues, such bonds sometimes contain a mortgage on the 
enterprise fund’s property. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT. All the ways and means used to avoid accidental loss or to reduce its 
consequences if it does occur. 

SELF-INSURANCE. A term often used to describe the retention by an entity of a risk of loss arising out of 
the ownership of property or from some other cause, instead of transferring that risk to an independent 
third party through the purchase of an insurance policy. It is sometimes accompanied by the setting aside 
of assets to fund any related losses. Because no insurance is involved, the term self-insurance is a 
misnomer. 

SINGLE AUDIT. An audit performed in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1997 and Office of 
Management and Budget’s (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of State, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations. The Single Audit Act allows or requires governments (depending on the amount of Federal 
assistance received) to have one audit performed to meet the needs of all Federal agencies. 

SPECIAL DISTRICT. An independent unit of local government organized to perform a single government 
function or a restricted number of related functions. Special districts usually have the power to incur debt 
and levy taxes; however, certain types of special districts are entirely dependent upon enterprise earnings 
and cannot impose taxes. Examples of special districts are water districts, drainage districts, flood control 
districts, hospital districts, fire protection districts, transit authorities, port authorities, and electric power 
authorities. 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND. A fund used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other 
than expendable trusts or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditure for specified 
purposes. 

TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES (TRANS). Notes issued in anticipation of the collection of 
taxes and revenues, usually retireable only from tax collections, and frequently only from the proceeds of 
the tax and revenues levy whose collection they anticipate. 

TRUST FUNDS. Funds used to account for assets held by a government in a trustee capacity for 
individuals, private organizations, other governments, and/or other funds. 

UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE. The residual classification for the County’s General Fund that includes 
amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other funds, the unassigned classification is used 
only if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceed the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned 
to those purposes. 

UNQUALIFIED OPINION. An opinion rendered without reservation by the independent auditor that financial 
statements are fairly presented. 

UNRESERVED FUND BALANCE. That portion of a fund balance available for spending or appropriation 
in the future. 

UNRESTRICTED NET POSITION. That portion of net position that is neither restricted nor invested in 
capital assets (net of related debt). 
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